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California
Residence Inn Fremont - Silicon Valley
Residence Inn Ontario - Airport
Residence Inn Palo Alto - Mountain View
Residence Inn San Francisco - Airport San Mateo
Residence Inn San Jose - Campbell
Residence Inn San Jose - South
Residence Inn Sunnyvale - Silicon Valley I
Residence Inn Sunnyvale - Silicon Valley II
Summerfield Suites Belmont - Redwood Shores
Summerfield Suites El Segundo

Colorado
Residence Inn Denver - Downtown
Residence Inn Denver - Tech Center

Connecticut
Residence Inn Hartford - Windsor
Residence Inn Shelton - Fairfield County

Florida
Courtyard Fort Lauderdale - North Cypress Creek
Four Points Destin - Fort Walton Beach
Hampton Inn Naples - Central
Hampton Inn Tallahassee - I-10
Hampton Inn West Palm Beach - Airport
Residence Inn Orlando - Altamonte Springs

Georgia
Residence Inn Atlanta - Downtown
Residence Inn Atlanta - Norcross Peachtree Corners

Ilinois
Hampton Inn Chicago - Lombard Oak Brook
Hampton Inn Chicago - Schaumburg
Hampton Inn Chicago - Westchester Oak Brook
Residence Inn Chicago - O'Hare

Indiana
Residence Inn Fort Wayne
Residence Inn Indianapolis - North

Kansas
Residence Inn Wichita - East

Kentucky
Hampton Inn Louisville
Residence Inn Lexington - North
Residence Inn Louisville - East

Maine
Residence Inn Portland - Scarborough

Maryland
Hampton Inn Columbia
Hampton Inn Germantown - Gaithersburg
Residence Inn Gaithersburg - Washingtonian Center

Massachusetts
Hampton Inn Boston - Woburn

Michigan
Residence Inn Detroit - Livonia
Residence Inn Detroit - Troy Central
Residence Inn Detroit - Troy Madison Heights
Residence Inn East Lansing
Residence Inn Grand Rapids - East

New Jersey
Courtyard Atlantic City
Courtyard Montvale
Residence Inn Cherry Hill - Philadelphia
Residence Inn Saddle River
Summerfield Suites Mount Laurel
Sunrise Suites Tinton Falls

New York
Hampton Inn Albany - Latham
Hampton Inn Long Island - Islandia
Residence Inn Binghamton

Ohio
Residence Inn Columbus - Southeast

Pennsylvania
Hampton Inn Philadelphia - Willow Grove
Residence Inn Harrisburg - Hershey
TownePlace Suites Philadelphia - Horsham

Texas
Homewood Suites San Antonio - Riverwalk Downtown
Residence Inn Arlington
Residence Inn Dallas - Addison Quorum Drive
Summerfield Suites Addison
Summerfield Suites Las Colinas

Virginia
Residence Inn Richmond - Northwest
Residence Inn Richmond - West End
Residence Inn Tysons Corner - Mall

Washington
Residence Inn Seattle - Bellevue
Residence Inn Seattle - Northeast Bothell
Residence Inn Seattle - North Lynnwood Everett
Residence Inn Seattle - South Tukwila

Washington D.C.
Doubletree Guest Suites




To Our Shareholders:

2004 was an excellent year for the industry and for Innkeepers. We achieved significant
internal growth, as measured by revenue per available room (RevPAR), and external growth
through acquisitions. This robust growth propelled a 25 percent increase in adjusted funds from
operations (FFO) per share, a doubling of our quarterly common share dividend to $0.06 per
share and substantial returns to you, our shareholders.

It was the first year since 2000 in which we saw a year-over-year increase in RevPAR, a
key industry benchmark. After three years of negative RevPAR, which declined nearly 30
percent during that time, we reported positive RevPAR in 2004—not only for the year, but in
every quarter. Even more gratifying was the accelerating contribution of room rate to our
RevPAR gains. Positive industry fundamentals of increasing demand and minimal new supply
suggest that we are in the early stages of a RevPAR recovery.

The hotel acquisition market, a major source of external growth for us, is favorable, as
buyers’ and sellers’ expectations concerning future cash flows have become more aligned. We
are confident that 2005 will be marked by solid gains in RevPAR and an active acquisition
environment.

Internal Growth

RevPAR across our portfolio rose 7.8 percent for 2004, as occupancy increased 4.2
percent and average daily rate (ADR) was up 3.5 percent. The strength in RevPAR has persisted
in January and February 2005. We are forecasting 6 percent RevPAR growth in 2005, which
translates into a 19 percent increase in adjusted FFO per share from 2004, and does not include

the earnings benefit of any future acquisitions.




Operationally, we are well positioned to take advantage of the recovery. We are located
in major MSAs on both coasts, in areas with strong demand generators and relatively high
barriers to entry. We are affiliated with the industry’s strongest brands, including Marriott and
Hilton. Our portfolio is in excellent physical condition, as we have continued to reinvest in our
properties. We have spent an average of $20 million to $30 million annually in capital expenditures
to maintain their competitive condition.

External Growth

We began to step up our acquisition program in May 2004 in response to the
improvement in the capital markets and growing evidence of a sustainable recovery. We
purchased the Homewood Suites Riverwalk/Downtown in San Antonio, our first hotel in that
city. In June, we acquired a hotel in downtown Louisville, which we are renovating and
converting to a Hampton Inn. In September, we purchased a site in Vélencia, Calif., outside of
Los Angeles, with plans to build an Embassy Suites hotel there.

At the end of 2004 and in the first quarter of 2005, we closed on three acquisitions we
announced in December 2004, all in the Northeast: the Doubletree Guest Suites in downtown
Washington, D.C., the Hampton Inn in Columbia, Md., and a hotel in Montvale, N.J., which we
are rebranding to a Courtyard.

All of these acquisitions demonstrate or reinforce our strategy and capabilities in purchasing
existing stabilized hotels, developing new hotels, and repositioning and rebranding hotels. Our
focus is to continue to acquire hotels in our existing markets, such as northern New Jersey, and to
enter new markets, such as the Washington, D.C. to Baltimore, Md. corridor and southern
California. These kinds of markets reflect strong demand growth and relatively high barriers to

entry, such as lengthy entitlement processes and the high cost of land. We are continuing to seek




upscale hotels, including full service, that cater to the leisure segment and upscale extended-stay
hotels, which primarily attract business travelers.
Balance Sheet Strength

We continue to maintain one of the industry’s strongest capital structures and lowest-
levered balance sheets. Our debt to investment in hotels at cost ratio was 30 percent at year-end
2004, with no debt maturities until 2007. Our weighted average interest rate on our total debt is
6.8 percent, and 76 percent of our total debt is at fixed rates at year-end 2004.

We completed a $60 million common share stock offering in February 2005, further
enhancing our flexibility. Our $135 million unsecured line of credit has an outstanding balance of
$31 million currently with substantial availability for new acquisitions.

Outlook

We believe we are in the early stages of a well-entrenched, multi-year recovery, and we
are looking forward to a prosperous 2005. We will continue to be a disciplined acquirer of hotels,
to selectively sell non-strategic hotels, to focus on internal growth and expanding margins and
profitability, with a keen eye on cost containment. We appreciate your interest in and continued

support of our company.

Jeffrey H. Fisher
Chief Executive Officer and President

April 1, 2005
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THIS REPORT CONTAINS AND INCORPORATES BY REFERENCE “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS” WITHIN THE MEANING OF
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, STATEMENTS CONTAINING THE WORDS “ESTIMATES,” “PROJECTS,”
“BELIEVES,” “ANTICIPATES,” “EXPECTS” AND WORDS OF SIMILAR IMPORT. FACTORS IDENTIFIED OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN
THIS REPORT WHICH COULD CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER INCLUDE BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO THOSE DISCUSSED IN THE
SECTIONS ENTITLED “RISK FACTORS,” “BUSINESS -NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS - INTERNAL GROWTH STRATEGY,” “~-BUSINESS
~NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS - ACQUISITION AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY,” AND “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.” SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS RELATE TO FUTURE
EVENTS AND THE FUTURE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF OUR COMPANY AND INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES
AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE THE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS OF OUR COMPANY TO BE
MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM THE RESULTS OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED AND IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.
THESE RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS ARE DISCUSSED IN THE “RISK FACTORS” SECTION OF THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON
FORM 10-K, AND IN OTHER REPORTS FILED BY US FROM TIME TO TIME WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. WE ARE NOT
OBLIGATED TO UPDATE ANY SUCH FACTORS OR TO REFLECT THE IMPACT OF ACTUAL FUTURE EVENTS OR DEVELOPMENTS ON SUCH
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS,

PART 1
Item 1. Business

(a) General

Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers”) is a self-administered real estate investment trust (“REIT”). Innkeepers owned 69 hotels
with an aggregate of 8,684 rooms/suites (the “Hotels”) through its partnership interests in Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership (with
its subsidiary partnerships, the “Partnership” and collectively with Innkeepers, the “Company”) at December 31, 2004.

The Company focuses primarily on upscale and upscale extended-stay hotels and 51 of the Company’s 69 Hotels are in the
upscale extended-stay segment. Upscale extended-stay hotels are typified by the following characteristics: (i) their principal customer
base is business travelers who are on assignment for executive training and consulting, project assignment and corporate relocations;
(i1) their service and amenities include complimentary breakfast and evening cocktails, limited meeting space, daily linen and room
cleaning service, 24-hour front desk, guest grocery services, and an on-site maintenance staff; and (iii) their physical facilities include
large suites, quality construction, full separate kitchens, quality room furnishings, pool, and exercise facilities. The upscale extended-
stay hotel concept was developed by Jack P. DeBoer, who founded the Residence Inn brand and, with co-founder Rolf E. Ruhfus, the
Summerfield Suites by Wyndham brand. Both Mr. DeBoer and Mr. Ruhfus serve on the Company’s Board of Trustees.

The following charts set forth certain information with respect to the Hotels at December 31, 2004:

Number of Number of
Franchise Affiliation Hotels Rooms/Suites
Upscale Extended-Stay
Residence Inn 44 5,276
Summerfield Suites by Wyndham 5 650
Homewood Suites by Hilton 1 146
Sunrise Suites (1) 1 96
51 6,168
Upscale
Doubletree Guest Suites 1 105
Four Points by Sheraton 1 216
Courtyard (2) 2 339
4 660
Mid-Price
Hampton Inn (3) 12 1,557
TownePlace Suites 1 g5
Holiday Inn Express 1 204
14 1,856
69 8,684

(1)  This Hotel is operated independently of any franchise.
(2) One of these Hotels is closed for renovation and conversion to a Courtyard.
(3) One of these Hotels is closed for renovation and conversion to a Hampton Inn.
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Number of Number of Percentage of

State Hotels Suites/Rooms Suites/Rooms
California 10 1,513 17.4%
Florida 6 815 9.4
Texas 5 690 8.0
New Jersey 5 685 7.9
Washington 5 624 7.2
Illinois 4 560 6.5
Michigan 5 516 5.9
Kentucky 3 358 4.1
Pennsylvania 3 325 3.7
New York 3 318 3.7
Maryland 2 309 3.6
Virginia 3 305 35
Massachusetts 2 303 35
Colorado 2 284 33
Georgia 2 280 3.2
Connecticut 2 192 2.2
Indiana 2 168 1.9
Oregon 1 112 1.3
Washington, D.C. 1 105 1.2
Ohio 1 80 0.9
Maine 1 78 0.9
Kansas 1 64 0.7
69 8,684 100.0%

Restructuring Transactions

From January 1, 2003 through November 30, 2003, 60 of the Hotels were leased to Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. or its affiliates
(collectively, the “IH Lessee”) under separate percentage leases (collectively, the “Percentage Leases™) providing for rent equal to (a)
a fixed base amount or, (b) if greater, percentage lease rent based on the room revenues of the Hotel. The IH Lessee operated 44 of the
Hotels for that entire 11-month period. Affiliates of Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott”) operated 17 of the Hotels for part of 2003,
under management agreements with the IH Lessee. At various times during April 2003 to July 2003, the TH Lessee terminated the
Marriott management agreements for those 17 Hotels and began managing those Hotels directly. (see “-- Management Conversion of
Marriott-Managed Hotels” below). A Hotel acquired in June 2003 was leased by the Company to a wholly-owned taxable REIT
subsidiary (“TRS”) of the Company, and the TRS engaged an affiliate of the IH Lessee (the “IH Manager”) to manage the Hotel. As
of December 1, 2003, wholly-owned TRSs of the Company acquired from the IH Lessee the Percentage Leases for 23 of the Hotels,
and simultaneously entered into management agreements with the IH Manager to manage those 23 Hotels. The IH Lessee continued to
lease and manage the 37 Hotels under Percentage Leases for the remainder of 2003. Between December 31, 2003 and March 1, 2004,
wholly-owned TRSs acquired the Percentage Leases on the remaining 37 Hotels leased by the IH Lessee, and the TRSs entered into
management agreements with the IH Manager to manage those Hotels as those Percentage Leases were acquired. All of the IH
Lessee’s Percentage Leases were acquired by the TRSs without any modification to existing rent formulas or other economic terms.
(see “--TRS Transaction” below).

During 2003, six of the Company’s Hotels were leased to affiliates of Wyndham International, Inc. (“Wyndham” and the
“Summerfield Lessee”), and affiliates of the Summerfield Lessee operated those Hotels. The [H Lessee and the Summerfield Lessee
are sometimes referred to as the “Lessees.” Between March 1, 2004 and Aprit 1, 2004, the Company (i) terminated the Percentage
Leases (and related agreements) with the Summerfield Lessee, (ii) entered into new Percentage Leases with its wholly owned TRSs on
economic terms substantially similar to those in the terminated Percentage Leases, (iii) caused the TRSs to enter into management
agreements with the I[H Manager (with terms similar to the management agreements entered into with the IH Manager in connection
with the TRS Transaction) and (iv) caused the TRSs to enter into franchise agreements with an affiliate of Wyndham with respect to
the five Hotels operating under the Summerfield Suites by Wyndham brand. No consideration was paid to the Summerfield Lessee or
its affiliates in connection with the termination of the Summerfield Lessee’s Percentage Leases. This transaction is referred to as the
“Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction.”

All but one of the Company’s Hotels are managed by the IH Manager under management agreements with the TRSs at
December 31, 2004. The TRSs are responsible for paying all Hotel operating expenses, including all personnel costs, franchise
royalties and related fees, the Conversion Fee payable in connection with the Marriott Takeback Transaction (see “ -- Management
Conversion of Marriott-Managed Hotels™ below), utility costs, and general repairs and maintenance. The TRSs are also responsible for
all management fees payable to the IH Manager, including base and incentive fees. The Company remains responsible for ownership
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costs such as property taxes and insurance, ground rent, and capital expenditures. As a result of the restructuring described above,
Hotel-level revenue is reflected in the Company’s financial statements as “Hotel operating revenue” and Hotel-level expense is
reflected as “Hotel operating expense.” The Company had Hotels operating under the previous structure during most of 2003 and
partially in 2004, and the accompanying statements of operations for 2004 and 2003 (beginning on page F-1) still reflect percentage
lease revenue.

Jeffrey H. Fisher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees, owned the IH
Lessee and owns the IH Manager. Rolf E. Ruhfus, a Trustee of the Company, is also a director of Wyndham.

TRS Transaction. The Company completed the TRS Transaction between December 1, 2003 and March 1, 2004, and
completed the Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction between March 1, 2004 and April 1, 2004. The Company’s TRSs will pay
corporate level income tax and may retain any after-tax income. A REIT must satisfy certain conditions to use the TRS structure. One
of those conditions is that the TRSs must hire, to manage the Hotels, an ‘eligible independent contractor’ (“EIC”) that is actively
engaged in the trade or business of managing hotels for parties other than the REIT. Our TRSs have engaged the IH Manager to
manage our Hotels. To qualify as an EIC, the IH Manager (or its affiliates) had to establish (among other things) that it was in the
trade or business of managing hotels for parties other than the Company. Based on the advice of tax counsel, the Company believes
that the TH Manager qualifies as an EIC with respect to those Hotels that it manages for its TRSs.

In connection with the TRS Transaction, the Company formed TRSs, acquired the leasehold interests from the IH Lessee for a
total of $5.25 million in cash, and engaged the IH Manager to manage the Hotels under long-term management agreements. The
primary terms of the management agreements are (i) base management fee of 3% of gross revenues; (ii) accounting services fee of
$550 per Hotel per month and; (iii) incentive management fee of 50% of Hotel available cash flow. Hotel available cash flow is
defined generally as Hotel gross revenue less Hotel operating expenses (including franchise fees), base management fees, the
accounting services fee and percentage lease rent (paid by the TRSs to the Company). During the initial 10-year term of the
management agreements, the IH Manager will not receive any incentive management fees until the Company has received from the
TRSs at the time of payment all prior and current year base and percentage lease rent accrued to that date. The management
agreements have an initial term of 10 years with two five-year extensions. (see “--Properties — The Management Agreements with the
TH Manager” below).

Management Conversion of Marriott-Managed Hotels. Between April 2003 and August 2003, the Company, the IH Lessee,
Marriott and various affiliates thereof completed a transaction under which the IH Lessee (1) converted the agreements under which
17 of our Hotels were franchised and managed by Marriott into long-term franchise agreements with Marriott and (2) became the
manager of the Hotels. The TRSs assumed the IH Lessee’s obligations under the agreements executed in connection with this
ransaction. Under those agreements, the TRSs will pay Marriott (1) a franchise fee of 6.5% of room revenues for the first ten years of
each franchise agreement and a 5% royalty thereafter (as compared to 5% of gross revenues under the previous agreements with
Marriott) and (2) $850,000 plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (as defined in the agreement with Marriott) in excess of a
specified threshold each year for 10 years, beginning in 2004 (the “Conversion Fee”). In addition, a portion of the Conversion Fee will
be waived for a year if the converted Hotels’ room revenues decline below certain levels and certain other conditions are met. The
Conversion Fee was subject to an aggregate credit of $750,000 from Marriott; we applied $375,000 of the credit to the $850,000
Conversion Fee due for 2004 which will be paid in 2005. Other than the fees discussed above, the fees required under the franchise
agreements are generally similar to the fees (other than management fees) that were required by the previous Marriott management
" agreements. This transaction is referred to as the “Marriott Takeback Transaction.”

2005 Events

In January 2005, the Company acquired an existing 83-room Hampton Inn Hotel in Columbia, MD for $10 million, including
closing costs and anticipated capital expenditures.

In January 2005 the Company acquired an existing 190-room Hotel in Montvale, NI, for $23 million, including closing costs
and anticipated capital expenditures. The Company closed the Hotel to begin a $5.0 million renovation to convert the Hotel to a
Courtyard which is expected to reopen in 2006.

In February 2005, the Company sold a 112-room Residence Inn Hotel in Portland, OR for $8.5 million and a 120-room
Residence Inn Hotel in Vancouver, WA for $6.4 million.

In February 2005, the Company announced that David Bulger will retire as executive vice president, chief financial officer and
treasurer of the Company. Mr. Bulger will remain with the Company through the 2004 year-end reporting period.




In February 2005, the Company priced a public offering of 4.4 million common shares at $13.71 per share. The net proceeds of
the offering, after underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses, was $59.7 million. The net proceeds of
the offering were used to pay down a portion of the company's outstanding indebtedness under its unsecured line of credit.

(b) Financial Information about Industry Segments
The Company is in the business of acquiring equity interests in hotels and limits its activities to one industry segment.
(¢) Narrative Description of Business

General, The Company is a self-administered Maryland real estate investment trust, which owned equity interests in 69 Hotels
with an aggregate of 8,684 rooms/suites at December 31, 2004. Innkeepers had 21 employees at December 31, 2004. The ownership
of the Partnership was as follows at December 31, 2004:

Class C Class B
Common Preferred Preferred
Units % Units (1) % Units (1) %
Innkeepers 37,966,756 97.14% 5,800,000 100.00% — —
Third parties (2) 1,117,056 2.86% — — 3,884,469 100.00%
Total 39,083,812 100.00% 5,800,000 100.00% 3,384,469 100.00%

(1) See Note 5 to the Company’s financial statements beginning on page F-1.
(2) Includes certain members of the Company’s management and Board of Trustees.

Internal Growth Strategy. The Company seeks to maximize revenue and profit at the Hotels through: (i) aggressive asset
management, which includes insuring that its Hotel managers maximize the franchise brands’ marketing programs, develop timely
sales management policies and plans, develop operational initiatives for the Hotels that increase guest satisfaction, maximize property
management efficiencies, and control cost, and (ii) continuing reinvestment in the Hotels.

Property Operations — The IH Manager. The Company believes that the quality of the on-site Hotel operators is important to
the future growth in revenue from the Hotels. The IH Manager generally is required to perform or provide for all operational and
management functions necessary to operate the Hotels. The IH manager uses both a centralized and decentratized approach. Hotel-
level personnel handle front desk operations, housekeeping, direct sales and marketing, and preventive maintenance and repairs. The
IH Manager handles on a centralized basis such functions as financial reporting, accounting and payroll, human resources, revenue
management, purchasing and risk management.

Sales and Revenue Management. The IH Manager utilizes regional sales management oversight to coordinate, direct and
manage the sales activities of personnel located at each Hotel they oversee. Each property has a detailed annual marketing plan as
well as two semi-annual action plans that outline the strategy relative to corporate accounts, market segments, group revenue and
special event goals. As of December 31, 2004, the IH Manager employed three regional directors of sales and dedicated sales
associates at each Hotel to lead the Company’s sales efforts. The regional directors serve as a liaison to national corporate customers
as well as the Hotel brands’ national sales representatives, to minimize potential customer loss to the competition. The regional
directors are responsible for overseeing the development and execution of targeted action plans as well as recruiting and developing
“Best of Class” sales representation. The IH manager employs a corporate revenue management team, lead by a director of revenue
management, to provide tools that assist in increasing revenue efficiency. They offer leadership, guidance and expertise through daily
calls to support the Hotels’ planning and execution of fundamental revenue management principles. This includes pricing relative to
market demand and competitive pricing; assisting in the establishment of corporate account rates and group pricing; yield
management tactics; and turndown and market share analysis. Additionally, this team ensures that each property maximizes the Hotel
brands’ reservation system contribution capabilities.

Capital Improvements, Renovation and Refurbishment. The Company intends to maintain the Hotels in a condition that
complies with their respective franchise licenses, among other requirements. In addition, the Company may upgrade the Hotels in
order to capitalize on opportunities to increase revenue, and as needed to meet competitive conditions and preserve asset quality. The
Company may also renovate or expand Hotels when it believes the investment in renovations will provide an attractive return to the
Company through increased revenue or is otherwise in the best interests of the Company.




The Company expended approximately $25 million, $27 million and $21 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, for
furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the Hotels owned during these periods. The Company
expects to spend approximately $17 million for such purposes in 2005,

Franchise Agreements. Our Hotels operate under the Residence Inn, Summerfield Suites by Wyndham, Homewood Suites by
Hilton, Doubletree Guest Suites, Four Points by Sheraton, Courtyard, Hampton Inn, TownPlace Suites, and Holiday Inn Express
brands. The franchise licenses for our Hotels are held by our TRSs. The franchise agreements require the payment of fees based on a
percentage of Hotel room revenue. The franchisors periodically inspect their licensed hotels to confirm adherence to their operating
standards. The results of these inspections can result in additional capital expenditure requirements, or additional operational,
marketing or repairs and maintenance expenses. The Company or its subsidiaries have guaranteed certain obligations of TRSs under
the franchise licenses.

Acquisition and Development Strategy. The Company’s primary acquisition and development strategy includes acquiring or
developing hotels that are upscale and upscale extended-stay, which are located in markets with relatively high barriers to entry and/or
strong demand characteristics. The Company also seeks to selectively acquire under-performing hotels to which it can add value
through repositioning in the market, renovation or re-flagging to premium hotel brands.

Target Markets. The Company generally focuses on markets that have high barriers to entry relative to other markets and is
emphasizing markets that include New Jersey, Washington, D.C., and Virginia corridor and southern California. The Company’s
preferred markets are generally characterized by scarcity or high cost of available land, extensive permit approval requirements,
restrictive zoning, stringent local development laws, a relatively long lead time required to develop an upscale or an upscale extended-
stay hotel and relatively higher costs associated with such development. In addition, the Company seeks out submarkets within
favorable regions that have multiple fast-growing demand generators, such as major office or manufacturing complexes, airports,
major colleges and universities and medical centers with convenient access to major thoroughfares. The Company has Hotels in 21
states and Washington, D.C.

Target Customer. Most of the Company’s existing Hotels are generally focused on the business customer. It is the Company’s
intent to continue to seek to acquire hotels that cater principally to business travelers, but the Company also is actively seeking to
acquire hotels that target families and leisure travelers.

Acquisition of Upscale and Upscale Extended-Stay hotels. The Company focuses on acquiring upscale extended-stay hotels
because of the strong performance of that segment, which has resulted primarily from (i) the prevailing social and economic forces
that increase the demand for upscale extended-stay hotels, including the increasing tendency of businesses to conduct on- and off-site
training for employees, corporate out-sourcing and the use of consultants, and the general increased mobility of the United States
workforce, and (ii) the ability to generate a more consistent revenue stream than traditional hotels due to higher average occupancies
and longer average stays. Upscale extended-stay hotels also require less staff and have lower fixed costs than full-service hotels and
are designed and operated in a way that typically has resulted in higher operating margins than most full-service hotels. The Company
acquired several upscale and upscale extended-stay Hotels in 2004. In May 2004, the Company acquired an existing 216-room Four
Points by Sheraton Hotel located in Ft. Walton Beach, FL for $30.0 million. In May 2004, the Company acquired an existing 146-suite
Homewood Suites by Hilton Hotel in San Antonio, TX for $21.0 million and in December 2004 the Company acquired an existing
105-suite Doubletree Guest Suites Hotel in Washington, D.C., for $23 million, including closing costs and anticipated capital
expenditures.

Acquisition of Under-Performing hotels. Although the primary focus of the Company is on the upscale and upscale extended-
stay segment, the Company will from time to time consider acquisition of under-performing mid-price and full-service hotels that
have the potential for strategic repositioning in the market or re-flagging to a premium franchise brand in the upscale segment, or that
can benefit from substantial renovation. Generally, hotels that meet the Company’s investment criteria include (i) poorly managed
Hotels that have the potential for increased performance following the introduction of a quality management team, (ii) hotels in 2
deteriorated physical condition that could benefit significantly from renovation, and/or (iii) hotels in attractive locations that the
Company believes could benefit significantly by changing franchises to a brand the Company believes is superior, such as Hampton
Inn or Courtyard. In June 2003, the Company acquired an existing 203-room Hotel located in Atlantic City, NJ for $8.6 million. The
Company closed the Hotel in October 2004 to begin a $8.0 million renovation to convert the Hotel to a Courtyard which is expected to
reopen in 2005. In June 2004, the Company acquired an existing 182 room Hotel in Louisville, KY for $6.4 million. The Company
closed the Hotel in October 2004 to begin a $5.0 million renovation to convert the Hotel to a Hampton Inn which is expected to
reopen in 2005.

Development. The Company also reviews other development opportunities for hotels that are consistent with its target market,
product and brand strategies. The Company intends to only pursue selective development of hotels that meet its underwriting
requirements (i) when the Company believes that projected incremental returns adequately compensate for the costs and any
incremental risk assumed by the Company, (ii) when the Company believes that a hotel developed by the Company will create or
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increase synergies with other Company-owned Hotels in the area that will enhance the performance of all of those Hotels or (iii) in
order to maintain control of a site determined to have superior hotel potential.

In September 2002, the Company developed and opened a 174-room Residence Inn Hotel located in Saddle River, for $23.0
million. In September 2004 the Company acquired a land site in Valencia, CA for $3.7 million to develop a 157-suite Embassy Suites
Hotel for $21.0 million which is expected to open in 2006.

Hotel Disposition Strategy. The Company disposes of certain Hotels when it believes (i) the operating performance of the Hotel
has been maximized and it can sell on a favorable basis, (ii) the operating performance of a Hotel is declining and will continue to
decline due to new competitors opening in the market or the loss of demand generators, (iii) the franchise affiliation of the Hotel no
longer is complementary to the Company’s long-term strategic initiatives or (iv) the cost of franchisor requirements for the Hotel
becomes unatiractive in light of the performance and prospects for the Hotel.

In July 2002, the Company sold a 109-suite Summerfield Suites by Wyndham Hotel in West Hollywood, CA for $12.8 million.
In September 2003, the Company sold a 88-suite Residence Inn Hotel in Winston-Salem, for $2.1 million. In January 2004, the
Company sold a 126-suite Residence Inn Hotel in Eden Prairie, MN for $4.0 million. In July 2004 the Company sold a 150 room
Hampton Inn Hotel in Norcross, GA for $4.7 million. The Company has identified three additional Hotels that it intends to sell in
2005. In February 2005, the Company sold a 112-suite Residence Inn Hotel in Portland, OR for $8.5 million and a 120-suite
Residence Inn Hotel in Vancouver, WA for $6.4 million. The Company expects to sell the third Hotel in March 20035,

Risk Factors. An investment in the Company is subject to significant risks, including those that we disclose in reports filed
from time to time with the SEC. (see “Risk Factors” beginning on page R-1).

Available Information. The Company’s Internet website is www.innkeepersusa.com. The Company makes available free of
charge through its website its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, Section 16
reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5 and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after such documents are electronically filed with, or furnished
to, the SEC. In addition, the Company’s website includes corporate governance information, including the charters for committees of
the Board of Trustees, the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines and the Company’s Code of Conduct. This information is
available in print to any shareholder who requests it by writing to Investor Relations, Innkeepers USA Trust, 306 Royal Poinciana
Way, Palm Beach, FL 33480. The information on the Company’s website is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this report or
incorporated into any other filings that we make with the SEC.

Item 2. Properties

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the Hotels.
Year Ended December 31, 2004

Number Room
of Suites/ Revenue Occupancy ADR Revpar
Rooms 1 (2) (2) 2

Residence Inn:

Addison, TX 150  $3,099,775 73.18 % $77.15 $56.46
Altamonte Springs, FL 128 3,373,333 83.65 86.08 72.01
Arlington, TX 114 2,962,186 83.76 82.78 70.99
Atlanta (Downtown), GA 160 3,964 982 66.53 101.77 67.71
Atlanta, GA 120 2,669,538 79.23 76.71 60.78
Bellevue, WA 120 4,547,116 78.01 132.72 103.53
Binghamton, NY 72 1,962,447 77.59 95.98 74.47
Bothell, WA 120 3,375,236 69.44 110.66 76.85
Cherry Hill, NJ 96 2,762,673 79.32 99.13 78.63
Columbus, OH 80 1,685,203 66.81 86.15 57.55
Denver (Downtown), CO 156 3,749,816 69.77 94.13 65.68
Denver, CO 128 2,686,092 70.69 81.10 57.34
East Lansing, MI 60 1,210,105 64.78 85.06 55.10
Fort Wayne, IN 80 1,634,387 74.54 74.89 55.82
Fremont, CA 80 1,902,203 81.73 79.48 64.97
Gaithersburg, MD 132 4,577,824 80.64 117.50 94,76
Grand Rapids, Ml 96 2,133,980 72.60 83.66 60.73
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Harrisburg, PA
Indianapolis, IN
Lexington, KY
Livonia, M1
Louisville, KY
Lynnwood, WA
Mountain View, CA
Ontario, CA
Portland, ME
Portland, OR
Richmond, VA
Richmond North West, VA
Rosemont, IL
Saddle River, NJ
San Jose, CA

San Jose (South), CA
San Mateo, CA
Shelton, CT
Sunnyvale I, CA
Sunnyvale 1I, CA
Troy (Central), MI
Troy (Southeast), MI
Tukwila, WA
Tyson’s Corner, VA
Vancouver, WA
Wichita, KA
Windsor, CT

Summerfield Suites by Wyndham;

Addison, TX

Belmont, CA

El Segundo, CA

Las Colinas, TX

Mount Laurel, NJ
Homewood Suites by Hilton:
San Antonio, TX

Four Points by Sheraton:
Fort Walton Beach, FL

Courtyard:
Fort Lauderdale, FL

Hampton Inn:
Albany, NY
Germantown, MD
Islandia, NY
Lombard, IL
Naples, FL
Schaumburg, IL
Tallahassee, FL
West Palm Beach, FL
Westchester, IL
Willow Grove, PA
Woburn, MA
TownePlace Suites:
Horsham, PA
Holiday Inn Express:

30
88
80
112
96
120
112
200
78
112
80
104
192
174
80
150
159
96
231
247
152
96
144
121
120

96

132
132
122
148
116

146

216

136

126
177
120
128
107
128

93
135
112
150

99

95

2,507,728
1,880,601
2,196,962
2,945,659
2,323,329
3,547,042
3,524,008
6,638,099
2,263,195
2,706,007
1,952,003
2,762,439
5,676,285
6,462,233
2,575,767
4,661,784
4,175,107
2,586,023
5,887,609
6,779,209
3,786,148
2,129,967
4,222,285
4,495,066
2,438,926
1,483,855
2,806,225

2,755,363
4,279,847
4,385,207
3,850,474
3,571,934

2,938,441
3,742,198
3,145,496

2,651,513
3,639,301
3,301,877
1,737,804
1,998,725
2,121,787
2,119,744
2,974,240
2,195,524
3,775,614
1,723,890

2,043,453

73.26
70.00
87.74
74.70
85.16
90.63
71.92
87.78
30.13
77.69
70.78
81.15
80.02
80.63
81.89
75.56
74.34
71.87
66.20
70.60
74.39
74.72
84.43
80.70
69.91
77.99
74.17

77.14
85.18
90.04
81.65
90.59

74.77

65.11

70.63

62.86
65.94
65.63
4994
66.84
56.69
76.37
73.30
63.28
66.98
55.74

72.01

116.90
83.41
85.52
96.19
77.64
89.11

110.32

103.31
98.93
84.97
94.19
89.43

100.95

12585

107.43

112.38
96.51

102.40

105.19

106.22
91.49
81.13
94.89

125.77
79.43
81.22

107.68

73.94
104.01
109.07

87.06

92.88

122.35

117.24

89.48

91.47
85.20
114.55
74.27
76.36
79.89
81.54
82.12
84.65
102.68
85.36

81.61

85.65
58.39
75.03
71.86
66.12
80.76
85.97
90.68
79.28
66.01
66.67
72.57
80.78
101.47
87.97
84.91
71.74
73.60
69.64
74.99
68.06
60.62
80.11
101.50
55.53
63.35
79.87

57.03
88.59
98.21
71.08
84.13

91.48

76.34

63.19

57.50
56.18
75.18
37.09
51.04
45.29
62.28
60.20
53.56
68.77
47.58

58.77




Lexington, MA 204 2,832,048 51.59 73.52 37.93
Other:

Louisville, KY (3) 182 589,510 3) () @3)
Atlantic City, NJ (3) 203 2,915,881 (3) 3) 3)
Tinton Falls, NJ (4) 96 2,420,518 72.51 95.00 68.89
Washington, DC (3) 105 34,878 (3) 3) (3)
Consolidated Total / Weighted Average 8,684 $211,455724 73.92 % $95.42 $70.54

(1) The difference between the room revenue presented above and room revenue of $192,260,000 presented in the financial
statements beginning on page F-1 is due to the timing of the TRS Transaction and Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction
(see “--Business — General — Restructuring Transactions” above) and two Hotels that were sold during 2004, two Hotels that are
closed for renovation and conversion and one Hotel acquired in 2004. These five Hotels have been excluded from the Hotel
operating results above.

(2) Represents the occupancy, average daily rate (“ADR”) and revenue per available room (“RevPAR”) of the Hotels for 2004.
RevPAR for a Hotel is calculated by multiplying its ADR by its occupancy rate.

(3) Hotel operating results exclude the Louisville, KY Hotel which was acquired in June 2004 and is closed for renovation and
conversion to a Hampton Inn, the Atlantic City, NJ Hotel which was acquired in June 2003 and is closed for renovation and
conversion to a Courtyard and the Doubletree Guest Suites Washington, DC Hotel acquired in December 2004.

(4) This Hotel is operated independently of any franchise.

The Percentage Leases. Each Percentage Lease contains provisions substantially similar to those described below, and the
Company intends that future percentage leases with respect to additional hotels it may acquire will contain substantially similar
provisions. All of the Percentage Leases are between subsidiaries of the Company that own the Hotels and TRSs, which are indirect,
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Nonetheless, we believe that an understanding of the Percentage Leases remains
important to investors because, among other reasons, incentive management fees are payable to the IH Manager of 50% of Hotel
available cash flow, which is the amount remaining after the TRSs fully satisfy their rent obligations to the Company and their other
obligations under the Percentage Leases.

Percentage Lease Terms. Prior to the TRS Transaction, each Percentage Lease had an initial term of at least ten years, except
the leases for the Tyson’s Corner, VA and Saddle River, NJ Hotels, which have terms of five years. The Company expects that the
lease terms for all Hotels acquired after the TRS Transaction will be five years. The initial terms of seven Percentage Leases expired
in September 2004 and the initial term of one Percentage Lease expired in January 2005. The renewal terms for those leases is five
years and the Company expects that the renewal terms for all Percentage Leases will be five years from the expiration of their initial
terms.

Amounts Payable Under the Percentage Leases. The Percentage Leases provide for the payment of percentage lease rent based
upon percentages of room revenues (“Percentage Lease Rent”). Under the Percentage Lease Rent formula, the Company receives
between 30% and 35% of room revenue at a Hotel up to a specified level (“Revenue Break Point”) and between 68% and 70% of
room revenue in excess of the Revenue Break Point. Each Percentage Lease also provides for a fixed annual base rent (“Base Lease
Rent”). Percentage Lease Rent and Base Lease Rent are referred to sometimes as “Rent.” The Percentage Leases generally provide
that annual Base Lease Rent and the Revenue Break Points for the payment of Percentage Lease Rent are adjusted annually based on
changes in the U.S. Consumer Price Index (“CPI”). The CPI increases effective January 1, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were 3.4%, 1.64%
and 2.37%, respectively. Upon expiration of a lease term, the rent formula for the renewal term will be re-set to produce a then-current
market rate Rent. (See “--The Management Agreements with the IH Manager” below).

Other than property taxes and insurance, ground rent (where applicable), the cost of certain furniture, fixtures and equipment
and certain capital expenditures, which are obligations of the Company, the Percentage Leases require the TRSs to pay Base Lease
Rent, Percentage Lease Rent and the Hotel-level operating expenses (including franchise and management fees) of the Hotels during
the terms of the Percentage Leases.

Maintenance and Modifications. The Percentage Leases obligate the Company to make available to the TRSs for the periodic
replacement or refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the Hotels an amount equal
to 4% or 5% of room revenues from the Hotels per month on a cumulative basis. The Company’s obligation is carried forward to the
extent that such amounts are not spent. Generally, the Company directly contracts for, supervises and funds capital expenditures, and
on properties subject to mortgages the capital funds are generally held in escrow by the lender. The Company intends to cause the
expenditure of amounts in excess of the obligated amounts if necessary to comply with the reasonable requirements of any franchise
license or management agreement and otherwise to the extent that the Company deems such expenditures to be in the best interests of
the Company. Otherwise, the TRS’ are required, at their expense, to (i) maintain the Hotels in good order and repair, (ii) pay for all
Hotel-level operating expenses of the Hotels and (iii) comply with the requirements of any of the Company’s loan agreements (to the
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extent applicable to property operations or cash management), any franchise agreement, any management agreement and applicable
law.

Insurance. Each Percentage Lease specifies comprehensive insurance to be maintained on each of the Hotels, including liability,
property and casualty and extended coverage. The Company’s loan agreements and the franchise agreements also require insurance
which may be more comprehensive than that required by the Percentage Leases.

The Management Agreements with the IH Manager. All but one of the Company’s Hotels are managed by the TH
Manager pursuant to management agreements with the TRSs. The initial term of the management agreements is 10 years with two,
five-year renewal terms. Certain material terms of the management agreements with the IH Manager are summarized below. The
Company subsidiary that owns a Hotel subject to a management agreement with the IH Manager guarantees the obligations of the

TRS-party to the management agreement. This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the form of management
agreement filed with the SEC.

Operational services. The IH Manager has responsibility and authority for all activities necessary for the day-to-day operation
of the Hotels, including but not limited to establishing all room rates, advertising, sales, processing reservations, procuring inventories,
supplies and services, hiring (subject to certain limited approval rights of the TRSs) and firing employees and, subject to adequate
funds being available, complying with all requirements of any franchise or loan agreements.

Supervisory services. The IH Manager provides all managerial and other employees for the Hotels, reviews the operation and
maintenance of the Hotels, prepares periodic accounting, operating and other reports, maintains correct and complete books and
records, prepares periodic budgets and projections, provides other administrative and accounting support services to the Hotel, such as
risk planning services, employee planning and corporate executive management. The management agreements also require the IH
Manager to furnish certain centralized services such as (1) computer and telecommunications systems, (2) regional management,
marketing and sales services and (3) training services.

Fees. The IH Manager receives a base management fee of 3% of gross revenues, an accounting services fee of $550 per Hotel
per month, and an incentive management fee of 50% of Hotel available cash flow. Hotel available cash flow is defined generally as
Hotel gross revenue less Hotel operating expenses, (including franchise fees), base management fees, the accounting service fees, and
percentage lease rent (paid by the TRSs to the Company). When the current term expires for a Percentage Lease for a Hotel, the
Company expects that the replacement or renewal Percentage Lease will include a revised rent formula designed to produce a then-
market rent for the Hotel. Thereafter, the annual rent included in the calculation of ‘Hotel available cash flow’ to determine the
incentive management fee payable to the [H Manager for that Hotel will be the greater of (i) 7% of the un-depreciated cost of the
Hotel, plus annual property taxes and insurance; or (i) 30% of all room revenue up to the revised Revenue Break Point and 68% of all
room revenue in excess of the Revenue Break Point, with the Revenue Break Point being a dollar amount calculated to allocate the
expected operating profit of the Hotel (before deducting percentage lease rent and as further defined in the management agreements)
for the first year of the replacement or renewal Percentage Lease (A) 95% to the Company (in the form of percentage lease rent) and
(B) 5% to the TRS (in the form of net income). In the case of the eight Percentage Leases that have been renewed to date, the actual
percentage lease rent payable under the revised, renewal term rent formulas will be used to determine the incentive management fees
for the Hotels subject to those leases.

All of the Hotels managed by the IH Manager are “pooled” for purposes of calculating the incentive management fee during the
initial 10-year term of the management agreements, so that the IH Manager will not receive any incentive management fees with
respect to “pooled” Hotels until the Company has received from the TRSs at the time of payment all prior and current year base and
percentage lease rent accrued to that date for all “pooled” Hotels. (See “~ Properties - The Percentage Leases” above). In addition to
base and incentive management fees, the TH Manager also received an accounting services fee of $550 in 2004 which will increase to
$750 per month per Hotel in 2005.

Working capital. The TRSs must maintain sufficient working capital for each Hotel, and must otherwise provide funds to meet
the cash needs for Hotel operations if at any time the funds available from Hotel operations are insufficient to meet the financial
requirements of the Hotels.

Budgeting. The management agreements generally provide that once each year the IH Manager will prepare operational budgets
and assist in preparing capital expenditure budgets for the next year, which are subject to the TRSs approval and, in the case of
operational budgets, to certain dispute resolution mechanisms. Under the agreements, the TRSs are required to provide to the IH
Manager all necessary furniture, fixtures and equipment for the operation of the Hotels (including funding any required furniture,
fixtures and equipment replacements).

Defaults. The management agreements with the IH Manager provide for the right of a non-defaulting party to terminate an
agreement upon an event of default as specified in the agreement. Events of default include bankruptcy and failure to comply with the
terms of the agreement. In addition, the IH Manager would be in default if it ceased to qualify as an EIC with respect to the Hotel, was
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in default under one or more other ‘pooled agreements’ or fails to cure a default under the franchise agreement arising for any reason
other than the Company’s failure to provide capital to improve the Hotel. The IH Manager would also be in default under all of the
“pooled” management agreements if it is in default under any of the “pooled” management agreements. Upon a TRS default, the IH
Manager would generally be entitled to terminate the agreement and receive an early termination fee equal to the fair market value of
the management agreement as determined in accordance with the agreement, and certain severance costs. Upon an IH Manager
default, the TRS would generally be entitled to terminate the agreement and/or sue for specific performance or damages. However, if
the TRS terminates the agreement because the IH Manager ceases to qualify as an EIC due to changes in applicable law, the TRS’ sole
remedy is termination of the agreement, and the IH Manager is entitled to a payment equal to the fair market value of the agreement
less the fair market value of the management agreement the TRS enters into with another manager.

Performance Termination. The TRSs have the right to terminate a management agreement with the [H Manager on thirty days
notice if during any two consecutive years any two or more of the following occur: (i) aggregate expenses exceed budget by 5% or
more, (ii) market share is at least 15 points below the Hotel’s market share on the date of the agreement, subject to certain limited cure
rights, or (iii) the operating profit of the Hotel, as a percentage of gross revenue, is five points less than the previous year, subject to
certain limited cure rights. The TRSs do not have the right to terminate if the triggering event is caused by certain defined causes
outside of the control of the IH Manager.

Sale of Hotel. The TRSs have the right to terminate a management agreement upon the sale of the Hotel by providing 60 days
notice and, unless the transferee offers to retain the IH Manager on similar terms, payment of a termination fee equal to the fair market
value of the management agreement as determined in accordance with the agreement. The IH Manager has agreed to suspend payment
of any compensation otherwise payable to it upon a sale of a Hotel or loss of EIC status in certain circumstances. Only if at any time
there is a ‘net IH credit’ outstanding for 365 consecutive days (or upon a change of control of the Company), must the TRSs pay the
TH Manager the ‘net IH credit.” A ‘net IH credit’ is defined generally as (A) ‘TH Manager credits’ less (B) “TRS credits.” ‘IH Manager
Credits’ is defined generally as the aggregate amount of (1) the early termination fees payable to the IH Manager upon sales of Hotels
plus (2) any compensation payable to the IH Manager upon the TRSs’ termination of management agreements because the IH
Manager ceases to qualify as an EIC less (3) any ‘net IH credit’ previously paid to the IH Manager. “TRS credits’ is generally defined
as the aggregate fair market value of new management agreements entered into by the TRSs (or their affiliates) with the IH Manager
(or its affiliates). :

Assignment. The ITH Manager may assign the management agreements with the prior consent of the TRSs, which may not be
unreasonably withheld. The TRSs may assign the management agreements to transferees with sufficient financial resources and of
good character.

Approval Rights. In the event of Jeffrey H. Fisher’s death or disability, the TRSs have the right to approve the Chief Executive
Officer of the IH Manager, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Mr. Fisher owns the IH Manager, and serves as Chief
Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Company.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Other than as described below, the Company is not presently a defendant in any material litigation, nor, to its knowledge, is any
material litigation threatened against the Company or its properties, other than routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of
business and which is expected to pose no material financial risk to the Company and/or is expected to be covered by insurance
policies.

In May 2000, the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer (who was a minority shareholder in the [H Lessee entities) filed
suit against the Company, the [H Lessee and Mr. Fisher. The suit alleged that he was wrongfully terminated by the Company in breach
of his employment contract with the Company, was wrongfully terminated by the IH Lessee under his employment contract with the
[H Lessee, was injured by various breaches of fiduciary duty by Mr. Fisher in his capacity as a director and majority shareholder of
the IH Lessee, and various other related claims against the Company and the IH Lessee. Under a 2003 settlement agreement, the
Company (and the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher) made various payments to plaintiff in cash and/or common shares of the Company and
Mr. Fisher delivered to plaintiff a promissory note. The promissory note (1) bears interest at the prime rate subject to a minimum rate
of 4.5% and a maximum rate of 9.0%, (2) is the joint and several liability of Mr. Fisher, the IH Manager and certain other Hotel
management or leasing entities in which he may in the future have more than a 50% ownership interest, (3) will fully amortize over its
term with monthly payments that began on February 1, 2005, (4) matures on December 31, 2015 and (5) is collateralized by
management fees to be paid to the IH Manager by the Company. The IH Manager has directed the Company to cause the TRS to fund
certain management fee payments owed to the IH Manager to an account controlled by the plaintiff, which will be used to service the
note. The litigation was dismissed against the Company and the IH Lessees when it made the payments described above, and was
dismissed against Mr. Fisher when he made the payments and delivered the promissory note described above.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders between October 1, 2004 and December 31, 2004,
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PART I

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

The Company’s common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “KPA.” The following table sets
forth for the periods indicated the high and low close sales prices for the common shares, as traded on such exchange.

Eig_h__ Low
2004
First quarter $979 § 877
Second quarter 1034 7.65
Third quarter 1244 10.19
Fourth quarter 14.27  12.10
2003
First quarter $9.78 § 595
Second quarter 8.05 6.50
Third quarter 898  7.09
Fourth quarter 9.79 8.28

On March 1, 2003, the last reported sale price of our Common shares as reported by the New York Stock Exchange was $13.38
per share. At March 1, 2005 the Company had approximately 300 holders of record of its common shares and approximately 10
holders of record of the Series C Preferred Shares. It is estimated that there were approximately 11,000 beneficial owners of the
common shares and 3,500 beneficial owners of the Series C Preferred Shares.

IN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO QUALIFICATION OF THE
COMPANY AS A REIT, THE COMPANY’S DECLARATION OF TRUST LIMITS THE NUMBER OF COMMON
SHARES THAT MAY BE OWNED BY ANY SINGLE PERSON OR AFFILIATED GROUP TO 9.8% OF THE
OUTSTANDING COMMON SHARES. (SEE “RISK FACTORS — OUR SHARE OWNERSHIP LIMITATION MAY
PREVENT CERTAIN TRANSFERS OF OUR COMMON SHARES” BEGINNING ON PAGE R-1).

The following table sets forth information regarding the declaration and payment of distributions by the Company on its
common shares, Series A Preferred Shares and Series C Preferred Shares for the years ending December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Series C Series A
Common Preferred Preferred
share Share Share
Quarter to which Record Payment distribution distribution  distribution
distribution relates date date amount amount amount
2004
First quarter 03/26/2004 04/27/2004 $0.03 $0.53900: -
Second quarter 06/25/2004 07/27/2004 0.03 0.50000 --
Third quarter 09/24/2004 10/26/2004 0.06 0.50000 --
Fourth quarter 12/31/2004 01/25/2005 0.06 0.50000 -
2003
First quarter 03/28/2003 04/29/2003 $0.08 - $0.53906
Second quarter 06/27/2003 07/29/2003 0.03 - 0.53906
Third quarter 09/26/2003 10/28/2003 0.03 -- 0.53906
Fourth quarter 12/26/2003 01/20/2004 0.03 - 049114

Note 2 to the Company’s financial statements beginning on page F-1 delineates the portion of the distributions that represented
ordinary income, return of capital, capital gain and unrecaptured Section 1250 gain.

On February 2005, the Company’s Board of Trustees declared a first quarter distribution of $0.06 per common share and
common unit, $0.50 per Series C Preferred Share and $0.275 per Class B Preferred Unit to holders of record on March 25, 2005. The
distribution is payable on April 26, 2005.

The Company had no sales of unregistered securities to report for 2004,
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All outstanding Series A Preferred Shares were redeemed in January 2004 and the Company issued 5,800,000 Series C
Preferred Shares in January 2004.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth selected financial and other data for the Company. The following data should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” of the Company included herein.

The following data has been derived from financial statements audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent
registered certified public accounting firm. Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and related consolidated
statements of income and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 and notes therein appear
beginning on page F-1.

Selected Financial Data

(in thousands, except share For the years ended December 31,

and per share data) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Operating data (1):
Total revenue $ 205,029 § 83,829 $ 83,664 § 100,107 § 117,075
Income from continuing

operations 13,471 4,968 6,176 23,839 40,966
Discontinued operations (2) 1,129 (13,129) (7,933) 2,579 4,022
Gain (loss) on sale of Hotels — — 530 (250) (214)
Net income (loss) 14,600 (8,161) (1,227) 26,168 44,774
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

from continuing operations {0.06) (0.13) (0.11) 0.40 0.90
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.03) (0.49) (0.31) 0.47 1.02

Other data:

Cash provided by operating activities 3 61427 $§ 51,152 § 53,844 § 75028 § 92,559
Cash used by investing activities (107,729) (31,014) (13,872) (37,308) (26,828)
Cash provided (used) by financing activities 59,553 (31,919) (23,682) (47,053) (55,725)
Funds from operations (“FFO”) 31,418 15893 $ 25,016 70,846 89,404
Diluted FFO per share 0.81 0.41 0.67 1.52 1.91
Dividends per common share 0.18 0.17 0.40 0.91 1.12
Dividends per preferred share 2.04 2.1 2.16 2.16 2.16

December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Balance sheet data:
Investment in Hotel properties $ 943012 § 856016 $ 863,818 § 865882 $§ 837472
Total assets 795,992 706,740 734,048 752,920 765,155
Debt 286,865 232,174 236,730 261,116 246,185
Minority interest in Partnership 51,088 51,689 52,458 54,249 58,304
Shareholders’ equity 428,892 403,858 428,160 426,003 440,544

Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Data

(unaudited, in thousands except First Second Third Fourth

share and per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
2004

Operating data (1):

Total revenue $ 40,755 % 54258 §$ 59,497 $ 50,519 § 205,029
Income from continuing operations 996 5,303 6,537 635 13,471
Net income 1,834 5,553 6,653 560 14,600
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Jiluted earnings (loss) per share from

continuing operations (0.16) 0.06 0.10 (0.06) (0.06)
Jiluted earnings (loss) per share (0.14) 0.07 0.10 (0.06) (0.03)
Jther data:
diluted FFO (3) $ 2,020 % 12,165 % 13,572 $ 5,796 § 31,418
diluted FFO per share 0.05 0.29 032 0.15 0.81
003
Jperating data (1):

['otal revenue $ 15,571 % 15,928 § 20,386  § 31944 % 83,829
ncome (loss) from continuing

operations (3,015) (2,903) 624 10,262 4,968
Net income (loss) (2,554) (2,107) 1,364 (4,864) (8,161)
Niluted earnings (loss) per share from

continuing operations (0.15) (0.14) (0.05) 0.21 (0.13)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.14) (0.12) (0.03) (0.20) (0.49)
Other data:

Diluted FFO $ 3,250 % 3,765 § 7413 3§ 1,465 § 15,893
Diluted FFO per share 0.08 0.10 0.19 0.04 0.41
2002

Operating data (1):

Total revenue b 15,067 § 15401 § 20,156 $ 33040 § 83,664
Income {loss) from continuing

operations (4,248) (3,177) 2,056 11,545 6,176
Net income (loss) (3,971) (2,549) 1,884 3,409 (1,227)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from

continuing operations (0.20) (0.16) (0.01) 0.24 0.11)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.19) (0.14) (0.02) 0.02 (0.31)
Other data:

Diluted FFO $ 3,134 % 3998 % 7,878 % 10,006 $ 25,016
Diluted FFO per share 0.09 0.11 0.21 0.26 0.67

(1) The operating data for 2003 and 2002 reflect the adoption of Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
101 (“SAB 101”) “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” SAB 101 required the Company to effectively defer
recognition of percentage lease revenue from the first and second quarters to the third or fourth quarters. SAB 101 had no impact
on the Company’s distribution policy, cash flow or the annual recognition of percentage lease revenue. SAB 101 is not applicable
in 2004 due to the TRS Transaction and Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction. In 2004 and the fourth quarter 2003, total
revenue includes room revenue as a result of the TRS Transaction and the Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction. For the first
quarter 2004, 2003 and 2002 total revenue includes percentage lease revenue, (see “--Business — General — Restructuring
Transactions” above).

(2) Discontinued operations includes five Hotels in 2004 and six Hotels in 2003, 2002, 2001, and 2000. The Company recognized an
impairment charge of $626,000 relating to two of the five Hotels in 2004. The Company recognized an impairment charge of
$15,243,000 relating to three of the six Hotels in 2003. The Company recognized an impairment charge of $10,213,000 relating to
two of the six Hotels in 2002.

(3) The conversion of the Class B Preferred Units into Common shares is anti-dilutive and is not included in the calculation of diluted
FFO per share for the first and fourth quarters of 2004. The Common Units and Class B Preferred Units have been converted into
Common shares in the calculation of diluted FFO per share for the second and third quarters of 2004.

Funds From Operations

The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) adopted the definition of funds from operations
(“FFO”) in order to promote an industry standard measure of REIT financial and operating performance. The Company believes that
the presentation of FFO (defined below) provides useful supplemental information to investors regarding the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations. Many other real estate companies use FFO as a measure of their financial and operating
performance, which provides another basis of comparison for management. FFQ, as defined, adds back historical cost depreciation.
Historical cost depreciation assumes the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over a certain period of time. In fact, real
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estate asset values have historically increased or decreased with market conditions. Consequently, FFO may be a useful supplemental
measure in evaluating financial and operating performance by disregarding or adding back historical cost depreciation in the
calculation of FFO. Additionally, FFO per share targets have historically been used to determine a significant portion of the incentive
compensation of the Company’s senior management. ‘

NAREIT defines FFO as net income (loss) (computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)),
excluding gains (losses) from sales of property, plus real estate depreciation and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated
partnerships and joint ventures. The Company calculates FFO in compliance with the NAREIT definition. FFO and FFO per share
should not be considered as an alternative to net income, diluted net income per share, cash flow provided by operating activities, or
any other financial and operating performance measure prescribed by GAAP. These measures should only be used in conjunction with
GAAP measures.

The following presents the Company’s calculations of diluted FFO and diluted FFO per share for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003, 2002, 2001, and 2000 (in thousands, except share and per share data):

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss)
applicable to
common
shareholders $ (1,138) § (18,144) § (11,210) § 16,185 § 34,791
Depreciation 31,806 31,907 34,199 35,938 34,956

Depreciation included

in discontinued

operations 1,564 2,636 2,936 3,442 3242
(Gain) loss on sale of

Hotels included in

discontinued

operations (782) 57 — — —
Minority interest,

common (32) v (563) (379) 615 1,525
(Gain) loss on sale of

Hotels — —_ (530) 250 214
Minority interest,

preferred (1) — — —_ 4433 4,693
Preferred share

dividends (1) — — — 9,983 9,983
Diluted FFO (1) $ 31418 % 15893 § 25,016 § 70,846 § 89,404

Denominator for
diluted earnings
per share (2) 37,576,641 37,357,033 35,954,229 34,461,134 34,251,885
Effect of Dilutive
Securities:
Stock Options (2) 155,283 1,135 16,719 — —
Restricted Shares (2) 149,150 104,574 118,003 — —
Common Units 1,132,237 1,167,425 1,231,494 1,320,403 1,520,832
Class B
Preferred
Units (1) — — — 3,899,170 4,063,329
Series A
Preferred
Shares (1) — — — 6,857,493 6,857,493

Denominator for
diluted FFO per
share 39,013,311 38,630,167 37,320,445 46,538,200 46,693,539

Diluted FFO per share
(1) $ 081 % 041 % 067 § 1.52 % 1.91




(1)  The conversion of the Series A Preferred Shares and the Class B Preferred Units into common shares is anti-dilutive is not
included in the calculation of dilutive FFO per share for 2004, 2003, and 2002.

(2) The stock option and restricted shares are included in the denominator for diluted earnings per share for 2001 and 2000 because
the effect of these securities is dilutive to net income per share. The stock option and restricted shares are not included in the
denominator for diluted earnings per share for 2004, 2003 and 2002 because the effect of these securities is anti-dilutive to net
loss per share.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with Item 1 — Business and the consolidated financial
statements and related notes of Innkeepers USA Trust beginning on page F-1. The notes contain essential information and the
definitions of certain capitalized terms used herein.

The Company owned 69 Hotels with a aggregate of 8,684 rooms/suites through the Partnership in 21 states and Washington,
D.C. at December 31, 2004.

The Company’s operating results are dependent on maintaining and improving the Hotel’s occupancy, average daily rate
(“ADR”) and revenue per available room (“RevPAR?”) for the Hotels are presented in the following table. No assurance can be given
that the trends reflected in the following table will continue or that occupancy, ADR and RevPAR will not decrease due to changes in
national or local economic, hospitality or other industry conditions.

Years ended

Percentage
December 31, increase
2004 2003 (decrease)
Portfolio (1):
Occupancy 73.92% 70.96% 4.17%
ADR $ 9542 $92.24 3.45%
RevPAR $ 70.54 $65.45 7.78%
By Price Segment
Upscale Extended-Stay (2):
Occupancy 77.21% 73.68% 4.79%
ADR $ 97.25 $94.15 3.29%
RevPAR § 75.09 $69.37 8.25%
Upscale (3):
Occupancy 67.89% 73.06% (7.08)%
ADR $102.69 $96.24 6.70%
RevPAR $ 69.72 $70.31 (0.84)%
Mid-Price (4):
Occupancy 62.89% 60.68% 3.64%
ADR $ 85.94 $83.00 3.54%
RevPAR § 54.05 $50.37 7.31%

(1) Includes 66 Hotels, excludes two Hotels closed for renovation and conversion and one Hotel acquired in December 2004.
(2) Includes 51 Hotels.

(3) Includes 2 Hotels, excludes one Hotel closed for renovation and conversion and one Hotel acquired in December 2004.
(4) Includes 13 Hotels, excludes one Hotel closed for renovation and conversion.

Critical Accounting Policies

We discuss below accounting policies that the Company believes are critical to an investor’s understanding of its financial
results and condition, and require management to make complex judgments and/or assessments of risks. Information regarding certain
other accounting policies is included in the notes to the Company’s financial statements.

Long-Lived Assets. Hotels are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are based on management’s estimates of
the period over which the assets will generate revenue.
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The Company reviews its Hotels on an annual basis for “impairment” or whenever events or changes in business circumstances
indicate that the value of the assets on our books may not be fully recoverable. The Company reviewed each of its Hotels at December
31, 2004 for impairment and, based on its estimate of each Hotel’s future undiscounted cash flows, determined that no impairment
existed at any of its Hotels that were not held for sale. In determining each Hotel’s future undiscounted cash flows, we made many
assumptions and estimates, including the following: (1) annual cash flow growth rates for revenues and expenses, (2) holdings periods
of the Hotels, (3) expected remaining useful lives of the Hotels, and (4) fair value of the Hotel upon disposition, if appropriate. The
Company in the fourth quarter 2003 recorded an impairment charge on two of the three Hotels that are held for sale at December 31,
2004 in the amount of $11.4 million and in the fourth quarter 2004 recorded an additional impairment charges on two of the three
Hotels that are held for sale at December 31, 2004 in the amount of $626,000. The impairment charges on the three Hotels that are
held for sale at December 31, 2004 was based on valuing the Hotels at the expected proceeds to be realized upon a sale less any
closing costs. If the Company’s estimate of the future cash flows of the Hotels were to decrease in future periods, the Company may
be required to recognize further impairment charges in such periods and the impairment charges may be significant.

Income Taxes. The TRSs have cumulative future income tax deductions of $3,549,000 at December 31, 2004 and the gross
deferred tax asset associated with these future tax deductions was $1,267,000. The TRSs have recorded a valuation allowance equal to
100% of the gross deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty of realizing the benefit of this asset. The TRSs considered future taxable
income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for a valuation allowance. In the event the TRSs
were to determine that it could realize all or a portion of the deferred tax asset in the future, the TRSs would record a reduction in the
valuation allowance and recognize a deferred income tax benefit in the same amount.

Results of Operations
The following paragraphs discuss the results of operations for the Company.
Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2004 (2004 ") to the Year Ended December 31, 2003 (“2003")

The Company had total revenues for 2004 of $205,029,000, consisting of $5,010,000 of percentage lease revenue from the
lessees, $199,634,000 of Hotel operating revenue and $385,000 of other revenue compared to total revenue of $83,829,000 for 2003,
consisting of $76,624,000 of percentage lease revenue from the Lessees, $6,839,000 of Hotel operating revenue and $366,000 of other
revenue. The increase in Hotel operating revenue and decline in percentage lease revenue from 2003 to 2004 was due to the TRS
Transaction and the Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction. (see “--Business — General — Restructuring Transactions” above).

Room revenue increased $15,500,000 resulting from a 7.78% RevPAR increase at 66 of our Hotels on a comparable basis
(comparing a Hotels room revenue from 2003 to 2004) from 2003 to 2004. A majority of the room revenue in 2003 was used to
calculate percentage lease revenue which was remitted to the Company from the Lessees. A majority of the room revenue in 2004 was
recognized by the Company due to the TRS Transaction and the Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction. (see “--Business —
General — Restructuring Transactions” above).

Included in the room revenue for 2004 and the 7.78% RevPAR increase at 66 of our Hotels on a comparable basis from 2003 to
2004 were two Hotels acquired in 2004. These two Hotels contributed $6,700,000 of room revenue recognized in 2004. The increase
in room revenue resulting from the 7.78% RevPAR increase from 2003 to 2004 is $16,000,000 with the exclusion of these two Hotel
properties acquired in 2004,

The Company acquired a Hotel in June 2004 which is closed for renovation and conversion and is not included in the 7.78%
RevPAR increase at 66 of our Hotels on a comparable basis from 2003 to 2004. This Hotel contributed $600,000 in room revenue
recognized in 2004 prior to closing. The Company acquired a Hotel in December 2004 which is not included in the 7.78% RevPAR
increase at 66 of our Hotels on a comparable basis from 2003 to 2004. This Hotel contributed $35,000 in room revenue recognized in
2004. The Company acquired a Hotel in June 2003 which is closed for renovation and conversion and is not included in the 7.78%
RevPAR increase at 66 of our Hotels on comparable basis from 2003 to 2004. Room revenue for this Hotel increased approximately
$600,000 from 2003 to 2004.

The Company also sold two Hotels in 2004 which are not included in the 7.78% RevPAR increase at 66 of our Hotels on a
comparable basis from 2003 to 2004, Room revenue decreased $2,400,000 from 2003 to 2004 from the sale of these two Hotels.

The net result from the 7.78% RevPAR increase at 66 of our Hotels and the acquisitions and disposition of Hotels in 2004 was
an increase in room revenue of $21,500,000. A majority of the room revenue in 2003 was used to calculate percentage lease revenue
which was remitted to the Company from the Lessees. A majority of the room revenue in 2004 was recognized by the Company due to
the TRS Transaction and the Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction. (see —“Business — General — Restructuring Transaction”
above).
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The Company had Hotel operating expenses for 2004 of $116,857,000 compared to Hotel operating expenses in 2003 of
$4,738,000. The increase in Hotel operating expenses from 2003 to 2004 was due to the TRS Transaction and the Wyndham Lease
Termination Transaction. (see “—Business — General —~ Restructuring Transactions” above).

Hotel operating expenses increased $12,100,000 from 2003 to 2004 at 58 of our Hotels on a comparable basis. The increase was
due to $5,400,000 in management fees to the IH Manager in 2004, expenses as a result of increased occupancy in 2004 and increased
franchise and marketing fees as a result of increased room revenue in 2004, Excluded from this discussion are six Hotels which were
leased and managed to by Wyndham in 2003 and the first quarter in 2004, (see “—Business — General — Restructuring Transactions”
above).

Two Hotels acquired in 2004 incurred $4,500,000 in Hotel operating expenses. The Hotel acquired in June 2004 which is closed
for renovation and conversion incurred Hotel operating expenses of $600,000. The Hotel acquired in December 2004 incurred $30,000
in Hotel operating expenses. The Hotel acquired in June 2003 which is closed for renovation and conversion Hotel operating expenses
increased $540,000 from 2003 to 2004. The Hotels sold in 2004 had a decrease of $1,800,000 in Hotel operating expenses.

The net result of the increase in Hotel operating expenses at 58 of our Hotels and the acquisition and disposition of Hotels in
2004 was an increase in Hotel operating expenses of $16,000,000. A majority of the Hotel operating expenses incurred in 2003 were
the responsibility of the Lessees and were not recognized by the Company. A majority of the Hotel operating expenses incurred in
2004 was recognized by the Company due to the TRS Transaction and Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction. (see “—Business —
General — Restructuring Transactions” above).

The Company’s TRS incurred a net loss of 34,480,000 in 2004 compared to a net loss of $727,000 in 2003. The TRS loss in
2003 was for the month of December. The increase in net loss is due to the Company’s TRS acquiring 23 leasehold interests from the
[H Lessee on December 1, 2003. The Company recognized percentage lease revenue remitted to the Company from the Lessees on the
23 Hotels prior to December 1, 2003 and recognized Hotel operating revenue and expenses on the 23 Hotels in 2004 and December
2003, The Company acquired the remaining leasehold interests on 43 Hotels from the Lessees in the first quarter of 2004 and
recognized Hotel operating revenue and expenses on these Hotels after the leasehold acquisition and recognized percentage lease
revenue remitted to the Company from the Lessees on 43 Hotels in 2003 and a portion of the first quarter 2004.

Depreciation, amortization of franchise fees, amortization of loan origination fees, and amortization of unearned compensation
(“Depreciation and Amortization”) were $33,760,000 in the aggregate for 2004 compared to $34,480,000 for 2003. The decrease in
Depreciation and Amortization was primarily due to restricted common shares granted to employees becoming fully vested in 2003
which resulted in the decrease of amortization of unearned compensation by $495,000 from 2003 to 2004,

Interest expense for 2004 was $18,553,000 compared to $17,422,000 for 2003. This increase was due primarily to the
Company’s $1335 million unsecured line of credit (the “Line of Credit”) having an outstanding balance of $59,574,000 at December
31, 2004, $27,000,000 at September 30, 2004 and $26,000,000 at June 30, 2004 resulting in increased interest expense. The Line of
Credit had an outstanding balance of $0 for 2003.

Property taxes and insurance remained relatively constant in 2004 at $11,355,000 compared to $11,623,000 for 2003.

General and administrative expenses increased $252,000, to $5,413,000 in 2004 from $5,161,000 in 2003. This increase was due
primarily to an increase in salaries and benefits and fees associated with complying with certain of Sarbanes-Oxley rules.

Other charges in 2004 decreased $349,000 to $875,000 compared to $1,224,000 in 2003. This decrease is primarily due to a
decrease in TRS Transaction costs and advisory services of $1,560,000 offset partially by $392,000 in severance costs related to the
departure of a former officer and $250,000 paid to the ITH Manager for the transition of 17 hotel properties managed by Marriott to the
IH Manager as a part of the Marriott Takeback Transaction.

Discontinued operations decreased $14,258,000 from a loss of $13,129,000 in 2003 to income of $1,129,000 in 2004. The
decrease is due primarily to an impairment charge of $15,243,000 recognized in 2003 relating to three Hotels.

Preferred share dividends increased $5,755,000 to $15,738,000 from $9,983,000 primarily due to $4,249,000 in issuance costs
that were recognized pertaining to the Series A preferred shares that were redeemed in January 2004.

Net loss applicable to common shareholders for 2004 was $1,138,000 or $0.03 per diluted share, compared with a net loss of
$18,144,000 or $0.49 per diluted share for 2003. This change was due primarily to the factors discussed previously.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2003 (“2003 ") to the Year Ended December 31, 2002 (“2002”)

The Company had total revenues for 2003 of $83,829,000 consisting of $76,624,000 of percentage lease revenue from the Lessees,
$6,839,000 of Hotel operating revenue and $366,000 of other revenue, compared to $83,664,000 for 2002, consisting of $83,121,000
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of percentage lease revenue from the Lessees and $543,000 of other revenue. The decline in percentage lease revenue was due to the
TRS Transaction that commenced December 1, 2003 and a 6.17% decline in RevPAR at the Hotels due to continued sluggish
economic conditions.

In June 2003, the Company acquired a Hotel located in Atlantic City, NJ and leased it to the TRS. On December 1, 2003, the
Company acquired 23 Percentage Leases from the IH Lessee and entered into management agreements with the IH Manager to
manage the Hotels. (see “--Business — General — Restructuring Transactions” above). The Company recognizes Hotel level operating
revenues and expenses related to Hotels leased to TRSs and managed by the IH Manager. Room revenue was used to calculate
percentage lease revenue which was remitted to the Company by the Lessees prior to December 1, 2003 and partially during
December 2003.

Depreciation, amortization of franchise costs, amortization of loan origination fees, and amortization of unearned compensation
(“Depreciation and Amortization”) were $34,480,000 in the aggregate for 2003 compared with $36,761,000 for 2002. The decrease in
Depreciation and Amortization was primarily due to certain assets becoming fully-depreciated in 2003 and the elimination of
depreciation on a Hotel that was sold in the third quarter of 2002, partially offset by the depreciation of renovations completed during
2003 and depreciation on the Saddle River, NJ Hotel which opened September 2002 and Atlantic City, NJ Hotel.

Interest expense for 2003 was $17,422,000 compared to $17,485,000 for 2002. This decrease was due primarily to principal
reductions on the Company’s amortizing debt, the repayment of all borrowings outstanding on the Company’s Line of Credit in June
2002, and decreases in the interest rates on the Company’s variable rate debt.

Property taxes and insurance was $11,623,000 in 2003 compared with $11,527,000 for 2002. This increase was due primarily to
an increase in property taxes on the Saddle River, NJ and Atlantic City, NJ Hotels of $181,000 and $77,000, respectively, and
increases in various other Hotels® property taxes partially offset by the receipt of refunds of prior year taxes paid and a reduction in the
accrual for certain prior year taxes of $360,000.

General and administrative expenses increased $1,299,000, to $5,161,000 in 2003 from $3,862,000 in 2002. This increase was
due primarily to an increase in franchise taxes paid to certain states of $219,000, an increase in trustee and officer insurance premiums
of $279,000, increases in salaries and benefits related primarily to additional personnel of $371,000, increases in trustee fees and
expenses related to meetings held in conjunction with the TRS Transaction of $66,000, costs incurred in complying with certain
Sarbanes-Oxley rules of $98,000 and increases in legal expenses of $44,000.

Other charges decreased $2,343,000 to $1,124,000 in 2003 compared to $3,467,000 in 2002. This decrease is primarily due to
an increase in advisory fees and transaction costs related to the TRS Transaction of approximately $1,644,000, which was offset by a
reduction in legal fees and settlement costs related to the litigation with the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer of
approximately $3,818,000.

Discontinued operations increased $5,196,000 from a loss of $7,933,000 in 2002 to a loss of $13,129,000 for 2003. The increase
was due to an impairment charge of $10,213,000 recognized in 2002 on two Hotels and an impairment charge of $15,243,000
recognized in 2003 on three Hotels.

Net loss applicable to common shareholders for 2003 was $18,144,000, or $0.49 per diluted share, compared with net loss of
$11,210,000, or $0.31 per diluted share, for 2002. This change was due primarily to the factors discussed previously.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s principal source of liquidity is from Hotel operations which provide cash for debt service, distributions, capital
expenditures at its Hotels, and working capital. The Company expects that its cash from Hotel operations during 2005 may not be
adequate to meet all of its liquidity and capital expenditure needs during the year due to the requirement to pay dividends to
shareholders to satisfy certain REIT minimum taxable income distribution requirements. The Company currently expects to fund any
liquidity or capital expenditure shortfall and its external growth objectives primarily with the Company’s current cash on hand and by
borrowing on its Line of Credit or accessing the capital markets, if feasible.

Cash Flow Analysis

Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents) at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were
$33,618,000 and $17,172,000 respectively. Additionally, cash and cash equivalents included $10,781,000 and $7,586,000 at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, that was held in escrow by lenders to pay for insurance, taxes, and capital expenditures for
certain Hotels.
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Net cash provided by operating activities increased from $51,152,000 in 2003, to $61,427,000 in 2004. The increase in net cash
provided by operating activities was primarily the result of an increase in net income to $14,600,000 in 2004 from a net loss of
$8,161,000 in 2003. The increase in net income was primarily due to a 7.78% RevPAR increase at our Hotels in 2004 from 2003 and a
net loss in 2003 comprised of a non cash $15,243,000 impairment charge on Hotels classified as held for sale included in discontinued
operations.

Net cash used in investing activities was $107,729,000 for 2004. This was comprised primarily of capital expenditures at certain
Hotels for $25 million, the acquisitions of a Four Points by Sheraton Hotel located in Ft. Walton Beach, FL for $30,000,000, a
Homewood Suites by Hilton Hotel located in San Antonio, TX for $21,000,000, a Hotel located in Louisville, KY for $6,400,000, a
land site in Valencia, CA, for $3,700,000, and a Doubletree Guest Suites Hotel in Washington, D.C., for $23,000,000 which include
closing costs and anticipated capital expenditures. These expenditures were offset by the sale of the Residence Inn Hotel in Eden
Prairie MN for $4,000,000 and the sale of the Hampton Inn Hotel in Norcross, GA for $4,700,000.

Net cash used in investing activities was $31,014,000 for 2003. This was comprised primarily of renovations at certain Hotels
for $26,999,000, the acquisition of a Hotel in Atlantic City, NJ for $8,600,000 and the acquisition of leases from the IH Lessee for
$3,895,000, which were partially offset by the net proceeds from the sale of the Residence Inn located in Winston Salem, NC of
$1,990,000 and withdrawals of $6,565,000 in cash from certain restricted cash accounts for renovations completed during the period.

Net cash used by financing activities was $59,553,000 for 2004, consisting primarily of distributions paid of $21,304,000 and
the redemption of 4,630,000 8.625% Series A Preferred Shares (Series A preferred shares) for $115,722,000 offset by net proceeds
from the issuance of 5,800,000 8.0% Series C cumulative preferred shares (Series C preferred shares) of $140,300,000 and net
borrowings of $54,691,000.

Net cash used by financing activities was $31,919,000 for 2003, consisting primarily of distributions paid of $25,865,000; the
redemption of 121,071 Common Shares for $1,055,000 in connection with the litigation settlement with the Company’s former Chief
Operating Officer, loan origination fees and costs paid of $278,000; principal payments on amortizing debt of $4,556,000; and
preferred share offering costs paid of $165,000.

Distributions/Dividends

The Company has paid regular distributions on its common shares and Common Units. The quarterly distribution for the first
and second quarters of 2004 was $0.03 per common share or unit and for the third and fourth quarters of 2004 was $0.06 per common
share or unit. Quarterly preferred distributions of between $0.275 and $0.28875 are payable on each Class B Preferred Unit
(depending on the level of common share dividend paid), and each of the 2004 quarterly distributions was $0.275 per Class B
Preferred Unit. The Company paid a $0.539 dividend on each Series C preferred share in the first quarter 2004 and a $0.50 dividend in
the second, third, and fourth quarters of 2004. The timing and amount of any future dividends will be determined by the Company’s
Board of Trustees in its sole discretion based on factors it deems relevant and no assurance can be given that the current dividend
levels will be sustained. The holders of the Common Units and Class B Preferred Units may redeem each of their units for cash equal
to the then-trading value of a common share or, at the election of Innkeepers, one common share. Under federal income tax law
provisions applicable to REITs, the Company is required to distribute at least 90% of its taxable income to maintain its REIT status.

At December 31, 2003 the Company had outstanding an aggregate of 4,630,000 Series A Preferred Shares. Each Series A
Preferred Share was convertible into 1.4811 common shares at any time. The Series A Preferred Shares were redeemable by the
Company after May 18, 2003 for $25 per share and had no stated maturity or sinking fund requirements. Each Series A Preferred
Share had a liquidation preference of $25 per share.

In January 2004, the Company completed an offering of 5,800,000 Series C Preferred Shares. The Series C Preferred Shares
may be redeemed at the $25 liquidation preference at the election of the Company on or after January 20, 2009. The Series C
Preferred Shares have no stated maturity, sinking fund or mandatory redemption and are not convertible into any other securities of
the Company. Each Series C Preferred Share is entitled to a quarterly dividend of $0.50. The net proceeds from the offering were
approximately $140.3 million and the Company used approximately $115.7 million to redeem all of the Company’s outstanding Series
A Preferred Shares and the balance for general corporate purposes.

Financing

In making future investments in Hotel properties, the Company may incur additional indebtedness. The Company may also
incur indebtedness to meet distribution requirements imposed on a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, to fund its renovation and
upgrade program or to fund any other liquidity needs to the extent that working capital and cash flow from the Company’s operations
are insufficient to fund such needs. The Company’s Declaration of Trust limits consolidated indebtedness of the Company to 50% of
the Company’s investment in Hotel properties, after giving effect to the Company’s use of proceeds from any indebtedness. The
Company had bank-funding commitments available under the Line of Credit of approximately $65,000,000 at December 31, 2004.
The actual amount that can be borrowed is subject to borrowing base availability as described in the loan agreement. The interest rate
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on the Line of Credit ranges from LIBOR plus 122.5 to 225 basis points, depending on certain financial ratios. The line of credit
matures in July 2007. The Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in its line of credit and term loan
agreements at December 31, 2004. The line of credit outstanding balance was $59,574,000 at December 31, 2004,

The following table summarizes certain information concerning the Company’s debt at December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2004 2003

Investment in Hotel properties $943,012,000 $ 856,016,000
Debt 286,865,000 232,174,000
Percentage of debt to investment in Hotel properties 30.4% 27.1%
Percentage of fixed rate debt to total debt 75.7% 95.7%
Weighted average interest rates on:

Fixed rate debt 7.75% 7.77%

Variable rate debt 3.70% 2.40%

Total debt 6.76% 7.54%
Number of Hotels properties:

Encumbered 39 39

Unencumbered 30 28

Future scheduled principal payments for the Company’s debt at December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Amount
2005 5,884
2006 6,399
2007 87,140
2008 6,006
Thereafter 181,436

$286,865

In the future, the Company may seek to increase or decrease the amount of its credit facilities, negotiate additional credit
facilities, or 1ssue corporate debt instruments, all in compliance with the Company’s debt limitation. Any debt incurred or issued by
the Company may be secured or unsecured, short-term or long-term, bear a fixed or variable interest rate and may be subject to such
other terms as management or the Board of Trustees of the Company deems prudent. The Company has no interest rate hedging
instrument exposure, financial derivatives or forward equity commitments.

Capital Expenditures

The Percentage Leases with the TRSs generally require the Company to make available an amount equal to 4% or 5% of room
revenues from the Hotels, per month on a cumulative basis, for the periodic replacement or refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and
equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the Hotels. Each of the Company’s term loans require that the Company make
available for such purposes, at the Hotels collateralizing those loans, amounts up to 5% of gross revenues from such Hotels. The
Company intends to cause the expenditure of amounts in excess of such obligated amounts, if necessary, to comply with the
reasonable requirements of any franchise agreement and otherwise to the extent that the Company deems such expenditures to be in
the best interests of the Company. (see “--Business — Narrative Description of Business — Internal Growth Strategy — Capital
Improvements, Renovation and Refurbishment” above).

Management believes that the amounts required to be made available by the Company under the Percentage Leases will be
sufficient to meet most of the routine expenditures for furniture, fixtures and equipment at the Hotels. However, in the past, the
Company has spent substantially more on capital expenditures than the Percentage Leases require. Management believed these
additional expenditures were necessary to meet competitive pressures from other Hotels, many of which are newly constructed. In
many cases, the expenditures were also required by franchisors of the Hotels. Management believes that for the foreseeable future the
Company will continue to spend substantially more on capital expenditures than it is required to make available to the TRSs under the
Percentage Leases or loan agreements. The extent to which the actual expenditures exceed the amounts required to be made available
will vary from year to year, based on a number of factors. Those factors include, for any given year, market and franchisor
requirements, the point in the normal recurring upgrade cycle the Hotels are at in that year, and the revenue of the Hotels for that year.
In 2005, management expects to spend approximately $17 million on capital expenditures. To the extent that the Company spends
more on capital expenditures than is available from the Company’s operations, the Company intends to fund capital expenditures with
available cash and borrowings under the Line of Credit.
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Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into a number of transactions and arrangements that involve conflicts of interest. (see “--Risk Factors
- Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions” beginning on page R-1 and Notes 10, 11, and 12 to the Company’s financial
statements beginning on page F-1).

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes the Company’s obligations and commitments to make future payments under contracts, such as
debt and lease agreements, and under contingent commitments.

Payments due by period (000°s)

Obligation 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total

Debt $ 5,884 $6,399 $87,140 $§ 187,442 $286,365
Ground leases (1) 517 517 517 18,620 20,171
Construction contracts (2) 1,600 — — — 1,600

Franchise obligations (3) —_ — —_ — —_—
Management agreement obligations (4) — _— — — -
Tax indemnifications (5) — _ — . _
Office lease (6) ‘ — — _ _ _

$ 8,001 36916 $87,657 $§ 206,062 $308,636

(1} The Company has two fifty-year term ground leases expiring August 2034 and May 2033, respectively, and a 98-year term
ground lease expiring October 2084, on the land underlying three of its Hotels. Minimum annual rent payable under these leases
is approximately $517,000 in the aggregate, subject to increase based on increases in the consumer price index.

(2) The Company has executed $1.6 million in purchase orders and other construction contracts for completion in 2005.

(3) The TRSs have obligations under the franchise licenses for each its Hotels. The TRSs are required to pay the franchisors a
variety of fees including franchise and marketing fees which are based on fixed percentages of room revenues. The TRSs are
also required to pay Marriott the Conversion Fee and potential incentive fee. (See Notes 9 and 10 to the Company’s financial
statements beginning on page F-1).

(4)  See “Properties — The Management Agreements with the [H Manager” above.

(5) With respect to 13 of the Hotels, if the Company were to sell those Hotels in taxable transactions, the Company would become
liable for certain tax liabilities incurred by Unit holders who exchanged interests in those Hotels for Units in the Partnership
when the Company acquired the Hotels. The tax reimbursement liability with respect to a Hotel is generally limited to a period
within 10 years of the Hotel’s acquisition date. However, we cannot predict whether, when or to what extent the Comipany may
incur liability under these indemnifications.

(6) See Note 11 to the Company’s financial statements beginning of page F-1.

Seasonality of Hotel Business

The hote! industry is seasonal in nature. Historically, the Hotels” operations have generally reflected higher occupancy rates and
ADR during the second and third quarters. To the extent that cash flow for a quarter is insufficient to fund all of the Hotel operating
expenses and distributions for such quarter due to seasonal and other factors, the Company may fund quarterly Hotel operating
expenses and distributions with available cash and borrowings under the Line of Credit.

Inflation

Operators of hotels, including the IH Manager, generally possess the ability to adjust room rates quickly. However, competitive
pressures and other factors have limited and may in the future limit the ability of the IH Manager to raise room rates in response to
inflation. There can be no assurance that recent modest inflation levels will not increase in future years or that the effects of inflation
can be offset by raising Hotel room rates.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 123 (revised 2004). This Statement establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity
exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. It also addresses transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange
for goods or services that are based on the fair value of the entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those
equity instruments. This Statement focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in
share-based payment transactions. The final Statement is effective for any interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2005,
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meaning that an entity would apply the final Statement to all employee awards of share-based payment granted, modified, or settled in
any interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company is reviewing the statement and evaluating the impact, if
any, of this statement.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company’s primary market risk exposure is to changes in interest rates on its Line of Credit and other debt. At December
31, 2004, the Company had total outstanding indebtedness of $286,865,000. The Company’s interest rate risk objectives are to limit
the impact of interest rate fluctuations on earnings and cash flows and to lower its overall borrowing costs. To achieve these
objectives, the Company manages its exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates for a portion of its borrowings through the use of
fixed rate debt instruments to the extent that reasonably favorable rates are obtainable with such arrangements. The Company may
enter into derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps or caps and treasury options or locks to mitigate its interest rate
risk on a related financial instrument or to effectively lock the interest rate on a portion of its variable rate debt. Currently, the
Company has no derivative financial instruments. The Company does not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for
speculative purposes. Approximately 75.7% of the Company’s outstanding debt was subject to fixed rates with a weighted average
interest rate of 6.76% at December 31, 2004. The Company regularly reviews interest rate exposure on its outstanding borrowings in
an effort to minimize the risk of interest rate fluctuations.

For debt obligations outstanding at December 31, 2004, the following table presents priﬁcipal repayments and related weighted
average interest rates by expected maturity dates (in thousands):

Fair
_ 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total Value
Debt:

Fixed Rate (1)
$5,884 $6,399 $27,566 $6,006 $ 169,602 $215,457 (1) $217,291

Average Interest Rate 7.97% 7.97% 8.12% 7.93% 7.66% 7.75% —_—
Variable Rate — — 59,574 — $ 10,000 $ 69,574 $ 69,574

Average Interest Rate — — 3.82 % —_ 3.00% 3.70% —

(1) A mortgage has a balance outstanding at December 31, 2004 of $13 million with a stated interest rate of 10.35%. The fair value
market interest rate for this mortgage is 7.0%. The adjustment to reflect a fair value market interest rate of 7.0% is an increase to the
mortgage balance outstanding of $1.8 million.

The table incorporates only those exposures that existed as of December 31, 2004 and does not consider exposures or positions
that could arise after that date. As aresult, the Company’s ultimate realized gain or loss with respect to interest rate fluctuations will
depend on the exposures that arise during the future period, prevailing interest rates, and the Company’s hedging strategies at that
time. There is inherent rollover risk for borrowings as they mature and are renewed at current market rates. The extent of this risk is
not quantifiable or predictable because of the variability of future interest rates and the Company’s financing requirements.

The Company’s Line of Credit, has a an outstanding balance of $59,574,000 and matures in July 2007. All of our other debt
matures in 2007 or thereafter.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information required by this item is included beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

I Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management (including its chief
executive officer and chief financial officer), the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a — 15(e).

Based on their evaluation of such disclosure controls and procedures, the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial
officer have concluded that such controls were effective as of December 31, 2004, are operating as designed, and will be effective in
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enabling the Company to record, process, summarize and report information required to be included in the Company’s periodic SEC
filings.

There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31,
2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

II Internal Control over Financial Reporting

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Innkeepers USA Trust (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, The
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with US generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”). Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with GAAP and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in
accordance with authorization of management and directors of the Company; and,;

- provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
Management based this assessment on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in “Internal Control -
Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on this assessment, management determined that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting.

Qur management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2004 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered certified public accounting firm, as stated in
their report which appears herein.

Item 9B. Other Information

The Company has entered into an employment agreement with the Company’s, Chief Executive Officer, President
and Chairman of the Board of Trustees, which expires in January 2006. The employment agreement provides for an annual base
salary to Mr. Fisher of $350,000 for 2005, the same as in 2004. The employment agreement also provides for an annual cash
performance bonus, subject to a $250,000 maximum, if the Company meets certain financial goals set by the Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of Trustees. In addition, the employment agreement provides that the Compensation Committee
may award Mr. Fisher an annual cash discretionary bonus of up to $175,000. In 2004, the Compensation Committee set a performance
bonus goal of an annual funds from operations (“FFO”) per share target. In establishing the goal, the Compensation Committee
retained discretion to consider unusual items that impacted FFO per share, whether positively or negatively. In 2005, the
Compensation Committee determined that the 2004 performance goal had been met and Mr. Fisher received a $250,000 cash bonus.
At that time, the Compensation Committee also awarded Mr. Fisher a discretionary cash bonus for 2004 of $125,000.

In 2004, the Board adopted an executive compensation plan governing the compensation of the other named executives, who
currently are David Bulger, the Company’s Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, and Mark A. Murphy,
the Company’s General Counsel and Secretary. The executive compensation plan, for each covered executive, sets an annual base
salary of $220,000, which was unchanged for 2005. The executive compensation plan also provides for annual cash performance
bonuses if the Company meets certain financial goals set by the Compensation Committee, subject to a maximum of $75,000, and
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permits the Compensation Committee to award an annual cash discretionary bonus of up to $75,000. In 2004, the Compensation
Committee set as a performance bonus goal for Messrs. Bulger and Murphy the same annual FFO per share target applicable to Mr.
Fisher. In 2005, Messrs. Bulger and Murphy each received a $75,000 cash bonus under these provisions. At that time, the
Compensation Committee also awarded each of Messrs. Bulger and Murphy a discretionary cash bonus for 2004 of $25,000.

The Compensation Committee has not yet established annual cash bonus performance goals for 2005.

Mr. Fisher’s employment agreement and the executive compensation plan entitle the executives to customary fringe benefits,
including vacation, life insurance, health insurance, as well as the right to participate in any other benefits or plans established for any
management-level employees. The Company maintains a 401(k) plan, health insurance and other benefits generally available to all
employees. The Company also maintains a deferred compensation plan that is available only to trustees and executive officers, under
which a participant may defer up to 25% of their annual compensation, although the Compensation Committee may, in its discretion,
approve a higher percentage. The Company makes no matching contributions to the 401(k) or deferred compensation plans, but does
pay for their administrative cost. Persons deferring salary or cash bonuses under the deferred compensation plan will have the
opportunity to direct the investment of such amounts among various funds to be made available by the trustee, and investment
earnings or losses on such amount will accrue to the benefit or detriment of the executive’s deferred account. No cash amounts, or
option gains, have been deferred under the deferred compensation plan. Persons deferring the vesting of restricted shares under the
deferred compensation plan may elect, rather than to defer receipt of dividends paid on deferred shares, to receive from the Company
a taxable payment equal to the dividends paid on such shares. Mr. Murphy has deferred the vesting of a total of 32,000 restricted
shares under the deferred compensation plan, and has elected to receive dividend equivalent amounts.

The Company’s shareholder-approved share incentive plan permits the Compensation Committee to grant the executives share
options, share appreciation rights (“SARs”), common shares, cash incentive awards and performance shares. In 2004, Mr. Fisher
received 35,000 restricted shares, and Messrs. Bulger and Murphy each received a grant of 5,000 restricted shares, which vested in
January 2005. No other awards were made under the Incentive Plan in 2004, and no awards have been made under the Incentive Plan
in 2005 to date. The Company has not to date awarded SARs or cash incentive awards to its executives.
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PART I
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Incorporated herein by reference from “Proposal One — Election of Trustees” and “Executive Compensation — Executive
Officers” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect
to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 4, 2005.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated herein by reference from “Executive Compensation” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 4, 2005.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Incorporated herein by reference from “Executive Compensation — Equity Compensation Plans” and “Ownership of the
Company’s Common Shares” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 4, 2005.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Incorporated herein by reference from “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” in the Company’s definitive
proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders
to be held on May 4, 2005.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated herein by reference from “Relationship with Independent Accountants — Audit Fees” in the Company’s definitive
proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders
to be held on May 4, 2005.

25




PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements, and Schedules

Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule 3 - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation at December 31, 2004 F-31

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient to require
submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibits

3.1(a) Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362, and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1(b) Form of Articles Supplementary to the Declaration of Trust of Innkeepers USA Trust (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form §-A filed with the Commission on December 17,
2003).

3.2 Bylaws of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11,
Registration No. 33-81362, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.1(a) Form of Common Share Certificate (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-11, Registration No. 33-81362, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.1(b) Form of Preferred Share Certificate for 8.0% Series C Preferred Shares (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 21, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1(a) Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1-A to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1996, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1(b) First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership, dated as of July 1, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1(b) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1(c) Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership, dated as of July 23, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1(c) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.1(d) Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited

Partnership, dated as of March 1, 1998 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1(d) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
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10.1(e)

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6(a)

10.6(b)

10.6(c)

10.6(d)

10.6(e)

10.6(9

10.6(g)

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership, dated as of January 20, 2004 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1(e) to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Percentage Lease (previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11,
Registration No. 33-81362, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Right of First Refusal and Option to Purchase (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362, and incorporated herein by reference).

Innkeepers USA Trust 1994 Share Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Innkeepers USA Trust Non-Employee Trustees’ Share Option Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 13, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement of Jeffrey H. Fisher (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(a) to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H. Fisher, dated as of October 9,
1998 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(b) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H. Fisher, dated as of November
13, 2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(c) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H. Fisher, dated as of December
31, 2003 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(d) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H. Fisher, dated as of January 7,
2005 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s current report on Form 8-K filed January 10, 1995, and
incorporated by reference herein).

Severance Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and David Bulger, dated as of January 1, 2004 (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.6(e) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Severance Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Mark A. Murphy, dated as of January 1, 2004 (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.6(g) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Non-Compete Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust and Jeffrey H. Fisher (previously filed as Exhibit
10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

Percentage Lease Agreement between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. for the
Hampton Inn - West Palm Beach, Florida (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s registration statement on
Form S-11, Registration No. 33-95622, and incorporated herein by reference).

Consolidated Percentage Lease Agreement between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and Innkeepers Hospitality,
Inc. for certain Hotels (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-11,
Registration No. 33-95622, and incorporated herein by reference).

Credit Agreement, dated as of July 24, 2004, among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership,
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Calyon New York Branch, Wachovia Bank, National Association, PNC Bank, National
Association and the lenders named therein (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed July 28, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

Seven Contribution Agreements, each dated as of September 16, 1996, between various partnerships and Innkeepers
USA Limited Partnership for the seven DeBoer Hotels (previously filed as Exhibits 2.1 - 2.7 to the Company’s Form
8-K filed on November 22, 1996, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Contribution Agreement between a partnership subsidiary of Innkeepers USA Trust and a Summerfield
Partnership (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997, and incorporated
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10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

herein by reference).

Voting Agreement among Jeffrey H. Fisher, Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited Parmership, the
Summerfield Contributing Partnerships, and the beneficial holders of Units issued to the Summerfield Group, dated
June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Redemption and Registration Rights Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership, the Summerfield Contributing Partnerships and the beneficial holders of Units issued to the Summerfield
Group dated as of June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997,
and incorporated herein by reference).

Loan agreement, dated as of September 24, 1999, among Bank of America, N.A., as lender, and Innkeepers RI
Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Promissory Note, dated September 24, 1999, from Innkeepers RI Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield
General, L.P. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001,
and incorporated herein by reference).

Promissory Note, dated December 28, 2000, from Innkeepers Residence Shelton, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Atlanta-
Downtown, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Arlington (TX), L.P., Innkeepers Residence Addison (TX), L.P., and
Innkeepers RI Altamonte, L.P. to First Union National Bank (previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Deed of Trust for the loan evidenced by the Promissory Note filed as Exhibit 10.21 (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference).

Loan Agreement, dated as of October 6, 1995, between Nomura Asset Capital Corporation, as lender, and Innkeepers
Financing Partnership II, L.P., as borrower (previously filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of
Innkeepers USA Trust

We have completed an integrated audit of Innkeepers USA Trust’s 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our
audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index, present fairly in all material respects, the
financial position of Innkeepers USA Trust and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in
the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the
related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in the Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
appearing under Item 9A that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.




A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida
March 16, 2005




Innkeepers USA Trust

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2004 and 2003

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

2004 2003
ASSETS
Investment in Hotel properties:
Land and improvements $ 127,392 $ 102,823
Buildings and improvements 687,754 654,848
Furniture and equipment 101,909 92,206
Renovations in process 2,794 3,160
Hotels held for sale 19,299 2,979
Hotels under development 3,864 -
943,012 856,016
Accumulated depreciation (207,853) (189,156)
Net investment in Hotel properties 735,159 666,860
Cash and cash equivalents 22,837 9,586
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 10,781 7,586
Accounts receivable 4,577 8,091
Prepaid and other 2,539 1,794
Deferred and other 20,099 12,823
Total assets $ 795,992 $ 706,740
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Debt $ 286,865 $ 232,174
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,663 8,982
Payable to manager 209 811
Franchise conversion fee obligations 10,825 5,249
Distributions payable 5,450 - 3,977
Minority interest in Partnership 51,088 51,689
Total liabilities 367,100 302,882
Commitments and contingencies (note 10)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares, $0.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized, 5,800,000 shares and
4,630,000 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively 145,000 115,750
Common shares, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 37,966,756 and
37,563,499 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively 380 376
Additional paid-in capital 396,631 393,349
Unearned compensation (448) (897)
Distributions in excess of earnings (112,671) (104,720)
Total shareholders’ equity 428,892 403,858
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 795,992 $ 706,740

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Innkeepers USA Trust
Consolidated Statements of Operations

for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue:

Hotel operating
Rooms
Telephone
Other

Percentage lease

Other
Total revenue

Expenses:
Hotel operating

Rooms

Telephone

Other

General and administrative

Franchise and marketing fees

Amortization of deferred franchise conversion

Advertising and promotions
Utilities

Repairs and maintenance
Management fees

Amortization of deferred lease acquisition

Insurance
Corporate
Depreciation
Amortization of franchise fees
Ground rent
Interest
Amortization of loan origination fees
Property taxes and insurance

General and administrative (excluding amortization of

unearned compensation)
Amortization of unearned compensation
Other charges

Total expenses

Income before minority interest

Minority interest, common
Minority interest, preferred

Income from continuing operations

Discontinued operations
Gain on sale of Hotel

Net income (loss)
Series A Preferred share issuance costs
Preferred share dividends

Net loss applicable to common shareholders

Loss per share data:
Basic — continuing operations

Basic

Basic — weighted average shares

2004 2003 2002
(Note 14) (Note 14) (Note 14)
$ 192,260 6,588 —
1,769 75 —
5,605 176 —
5,010 76,624 83,121
385 366 543
205,029 83,829 83,664
43253 1,729 —
2,571 86 —_
3,056 68 —
18,509 792 —
13,305 507 —
1,047 34 —
6,618 286 —
9,290 426 —
10,771 382 —
6,382 343 —
512 32 —
1,543 53 —
31,806 31,907 34,199
53 54 43
505 504 493
18,553 17,422 17,485
953 1,076 1,173
11,355 11,623 11,527
5,413 5,161 3,862
948 1,443 1,346
875 1,224 3,467
187,318 75,152 73,595
17,711 8,677 10,069
32 563 379
(4,272) (4,272) (4,272)
13,471 4,968 6,176
1,129 (13,129) (7,933)
— — 530
14,600 (8,161) (1,227
(4,249) — —
(11,489) (9,983) (9,983)
$ (1,138) (18,144) (11,210)
$ (0.06) (0.13) (0.11)
$ (0.03) (0.49) (0.31)
37,576,641 37,357,033 35,954,229




Diluted — continuing operations $ (0.06) $ (0.13) $ 0.11)
Diluted $ (0.03) $ (0.49) $ 0.31)
Diluted — weighted average shares 37,576,641 37,357,033 35,954,229

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Innkeepers USA Trust

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Preferred Shares Common Shares Additional Distributions Total

Redemption Par Paid-in Unearned in Excess of Shareholders’
Shares Value Shares Value  Capital Compensation Earnings Equity

Balance at
December 31,
2001 4,630,000 115,75034,774,156 § 348 § 367,596 § (3.482) § (54,209) % 426,003

Issuance of

restricted shares — — 10,402 — 74 (74) — —
Issuance of common

shares, net of

$1,412 in costs — — 2,600,000 26 24 900 —_— — 24,926
Amortization of

unearned

compensation — — — — — 1,346 — 1,346
Write-off of shares

vested under

litigation

settlement — — — — — 1,174 —_ 1,174
Conversion of

Common Units — — 99,355 1 689 — _ 690
Net loss — — — — — — (1,227) (1,227)
Distributions

declared ($0.40

per common

share) — — — — — — (14,769) (14,769)
Distributions

declared (82.16

per preferred

share) — — — — — — (9,983) (9,983)

Balance at

December 31,
2002 4,630,000 115,750 37,483,913 375 393,259 (1,036) (80,188) 428,160

issuance of

restricted shares — — 200,000 2 1,302 (1,304) — —
Share repurchase —

Litigation

settlement — —  (121,071) (1) (1,053) — — (1,054)
Amortization of

unearned

compensation — — — — — 1,443 — 1,443
Shelf registration ‘

statement costs —_— — — — (25) — — (25)
Preferred share . o )

offering costs — - . (140) — — (140)
Conversion of s :

Common Units 657 6 6




Net loss

Distributions
declared (80.17
per common
share)

Distributions
declared ($2.11
per preferred
share)

Balance at
December 31,
2003

Issuance of
restricted shares
Redemption of
Series A
preferred shares
Conversion of Series
A preferred
shares
Issuance of Series C
preferred shares
Share repurchase —
Litigation
settlement
Amortization of
unearned
compensation
Minority Interest
Allocation
Shelfregistration
statement costs
Exercise of
employee share
and trustee
options
Series C Preferred
share offering
costs
Conversion of
Common Units
Net income

Distributions
declared (80.18
per common
share)

Distributions
declared ($2.04
per preferred
share)

Series A preferred
share 1ssuance
costs

Balance at
December 31,
2004

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

— — — — — — (8,161) (8,161)
— - — — — — (6,388) (6,388)
— — — — — — (9,983) (9,983)
4,630,000 115,750 37,563,499 376 § 393,349 § (897)$  (104,720)$ 403,858
— — 58,437 1 498 (499) — —
(4,628,860)  (115,722) — — — — — (115,722)
(1,140) (28) 1,140 — — — — (28)
5,800,000 145,000 — — — — — 145,000
— — — — — 948 — 948
— — — — (98) — — (98)
— — — — (12) — — (12)

— — 293,500 2 2,930 — — 2,932
— — — — (4,748) — — (4,748)

— — 50,180 1 463 — — 464

— — — — — — 14,600 14,600
— — — — — — (6,813) (6,813)
_ _ _ — — — (11,489) (11,489)

— — — — 4,249 — (4,249) —
5,800,000 8 145,000 37,966,756 $ 380 $ 396,631 $ (448)$  (112,671)$ 428,892
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Innkeepers USA Trust .

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands)

2004 2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) 3 14,600 $  @8,161) § (1,227
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 36,895 37,195 39,712
Minority interests 4,240 3,709 3,893
Write-off of shares vested under litigation settlement — — 1,174
Loss on Hotels classified as held for sale included in discontinued
operations 626 15,243 10,213
Loss (Gain) on sale of Hotels included in discontinued operations (782) 57 —
Gain on sale of Hotel (530)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 3,514 693 1,480
Prepaid and other (745) 323 (445)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,681 1,282 (426)
Payable to manager (602) 811 —
Net cash provided by operating activities 61,427 51,152 53,844
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in Hotel properties (110,194) (35,664) (31,070)
Deposit on acquisition of Hotels (1,784) — —
Proceeds from sale of Hotels 8,727 1,990 12,280
Net withdrawals (deposits) into restricted cash and cash equivalents (3,195) 6,565 4,987
Lease acquisitions (1,336) (3,895) —
Payments of franchise fees (272) (10) (69)
Repayment of advances 325 — —
Net cash used by investing activities (107,729) (31,014) (13,872)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from debt issuance 85,574 — 4,000
Payments on debt (30,883) (4,556) (28,386)
Payments on franchise conversion obligations (140) — _
Distributions paid to unit holders (4,442) (4,624) (4,584)
Distributions paid to shareholders (16,862) (21,241) (19,102)
Redemption of shares or units (115,722) (1,055) (236)
Proceeds (costs) from issuance of common and preferred shares 143,155 (165) 24,926
Loan origination fees and costs paid (1,127) (278) (300)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities 59,553 (31,919) (23,682)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 13,251 (11,781) 16,290
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,586 21,367 5,077
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 22,837 $ 9,586 $ 21,367

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 18,146 § 17454 $ 17,492

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash information — (See Note 1 for a description of the assumption of liabilities for non-cash
consideration in connection with the Marriott Takeback Transaction).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Innkeepers USA Trust
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization

Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers” or the “Company”) is a self-administered real estate investment trust (“REIT”), which at
December 31, 2004, owned 69 Hotels with an aggregate of 8,684 rooms/suites (the “Hotels™) through its partnership interests in
Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership (with its subsidiary partnerships, the “Partership” and collectively with Innkeepers, the
“Company”’). The ownership of the Partnership was as follows at December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Class A Class B
Common Preferred Preferred
Units % Units % Units %

2004

Innkeepers 37,966,756 97.14% 5,800,000 100.00% — —
Third parties (1) 1,117,056 2.86% — — 3,884,469 - 100.00%
Total 39,083,812 100.00% 5,800,800 100.00% 3,884,469 100.00%
2003

Innkeepers 37,563,499 96.99% 4,630,000 100.00% _ —
Third parties (1) 1,167,236 3.01% — — 3,884,469 100.00%
Total 38,730,735 100.00% 4,630,000 100.00% 3,884,469 100.00%

(1) Includes certain members of the Company’s management and Board of Trustees.

The Hotels are comprised of 44 Residence Inn Hotels, five Summerfield Suites by Wyndham Hotels, one Homewood Suites by
Hilton Hotel, one Sunrise Suites Hotel, one Doubletree Guest Suites Hotel, one Four Points by Sheraton Hotel, one Courtyard Hotel,
11 Hampton Inn Hotels, one TownePlace Suites Hotel, one Holiday Inn Express Hotel, and two Hotels closed for renovation and
conversion to a Courtyard and Hampton Inn, respectively. The Hotels are located in 21 states and Washington, D.C., with 10 Hotels
located in California, six in Florida, five each in Texas, New Jersey, Washington, and Michigan, and four in Illinois.

Restructuring Transactions

From January 1, 2003 through November 30, 2003, 60 of the Hotels were leased to Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. or its affiliates
(collectively, the “IH Lessee”) under separate percentage leases (collectively, the “Percentage Leases”) providing for rent equal to (a)
a fixed base amount or, (b) if greater, percentage lease rent based on the room revenues of the Hotel. The IH Lessee operated 44 of the
Hotels for that entire 11-month period. Affiliates of Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott”) operated 17 of the Hotels for part of 2003,
under management agreements with the IH Lessee. At various times during April 2003 to July 2003, the IH Lessee terminated the
Marriott management agreements for those 17 Hotels and began managing those Hotels directly. (see “—Management Conversion of
Marriott-Managed Hotels” below). A Hotel acquired in June 2003 was leased by the Company to a wholly-owned taxable REIT
subsidiary (“TRS”) of the Company, and the TRS engaged an affiliate of the IH Lessee (the “IH Manager”) to manage the Hotel. As
of December 1, 2003, wholly-owned TRSs of the Company acquired from the IH Lessee the Percentage Leases for 23 of the Hotels,
and simultaneously entered into management agreements with the IH Manager to manage those 23 Hotels. The TH Lessee continued to
lease and manage 37 Hotels under Percentage Leases for the remainder of 2003. Between December 31, 2003 and March 1, 2004,
wholly-owned TRSs acquired the Percentage Leases on the remaining 37 Hotels leased by the IH Lessee, and the TRSs entered into
management agreements with the JH Manager to manage those Hotels as those Percentage Leases were acquired. All of the IH
Lessee’s Percentage Leases were acquired by the TRSs without any modification to existing rent formulas or other economic terms.
(see “--TRS Transaction” below).

During 2003, six of the Company’s Hotels were leased to affiliates of Wyndham International, Inc. (the “Wyndham” and
“Summerfield Lessee™), and affiliates of the Summerfield Lessee operated those Hotels. The TH Lessee and the Summerfield Lessee
are sometimes referred to as the “Lessees.” Between March 1, 2004 and April 1, 2004, the Company (i) terminated the Percentage
Leases (and related agreements) with the Summerfield Lessee (ii) entered into new Percentage Leases with wholly owned TRSs on
economic terms substantially similar to those in the terminated Percentage Leases, (iii) caused the TRSs to enter into management
agreements with the TH Manager (with terms similar to the management agreements entered into with the IH Manager in connection
with the TRS Transaction) and (iv) caused the TRSs to enter into franchise agreements with an affiliate of Wyndham with respect to
the five Hotels operating under the Summerfield Suites by Wyndham brand. No consideration was paid to the Summerfield Lessee or
its affiliates in connection with the termination of the Summerfield Lessee’s Percentage Leases. This transaction is referred to as the
“Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction.”.
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All but one of the Company’s Hotels are managed by the IH Manager under management agreements with the TRSs at
December 31, 2004. The TRSs are responsible for paying all Hotel operating expenses, including all personnel costs, franchise
royalties and related fees, the Conversion Fee payable in connection with the Marriott Takeback Transaction (see “--Management
Conversion of Marriott-Managed Hotels™ below), utility costs, and general repairs and maintenance. The TRSs are also responsible for
all management fees payable to the IH Manager, including base and incentive fees. The Company remains responsible for ownership
costs such as property taxes and insurance, ground rent, and capital expenditures. As a result of the restructuring described above,
Hotel-level revenue is reflected in the Company’s financial statements as “Hotel operating revenue” and Hotel-level expense is
reflected as “Hotel operating expense.” The Company had Hotels operating under the previous structure during most of 2003 and
partially in 2004, the accompanying statements of operations for 2004 and 2003 still reflect percentage lease revenue.

Jeffrey H. Fisher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees, owned the IH
Lessee and owns the TH Manager. Rolf E. Ruhfus, a Trustee of the Company, is also a director of Wyndham.

TRS Transaction. The Company completed the TRS Transaction between December 1, 2003 and March 1, 2004, and completed
the Wyndham Lease Termination Transaction between March 1, 2004 and April 1, 2004. The Company’s TRSs will pay corporate
level income tax and may retain any after-tax income. A REIT must satisfy certain conditions to use the TRS structure. One of those
conditions is that the TRSs must hire, to manage the Hotels, an ‘eligible independent contractor’ (“EIC”) that is actively engaged in
the trade or business of managing hotels for parties other than the REIT. Our TRSs have engaged the ITH Manager to manage our
Hotels. To qualify as an EIC, the IH Manager (or its affiliates) had to establish (among other things) that it was in the trade or business
of managing hotels for parties other than the Company. Based on the advice of tax counsel, the Company believes that the IH Manager
qualifies as an EIC with respect to those Hotels that it manages for its TRSs.

In connection with the TRS Transaction, the Company formed TRSs, acquired the leasehold interests from the IH Lessee for a
total of $5.25 million in cash, and engaged the IH Manager to manage the Hotels under long-term management agreements. The
primary terms of the management agreements are (i) base management fee of 3% of gross revenues; (ii) accounting services fee of
$550 per Hotel per month and; (iii) incentive management fee of 50% of Hotel available cash flow. Hotel available cash flow is
defined generally as Hotel gross revenue less Hotel operating expenses (including franchise fees), base management fees, the
accounting services fee and percentage lease rent (paid by the TRSs to the Company). During the initial 10-year term of the
management agreements, the IH Manager will not receive any incentive management fees until the Company has received from the
TRSs at the time of payment all prior and current year base and percentage lease rent accrued to that date. The management
agreements have an initial term of 10 years with two five-year extensions.

In connection with the TRS Transaction, the Company assumed the franchise conversion fee obligations of the IH Lessee under
the Marriott Takeback Transaction ( see below). These franchise conversion fee obligations are recorded as a liability (“franchise
conversion fee obligations”) at their estimated fair value on the date of acquisition. The estimated fair value of the franchise
conversion fee obligations was calculated as the present value of (1) the additional 1.5% franchise fee payable to Marriott for the first
ten years of the new franchise agreements for the 17 affected Hotels and (2) the annual $850,000 Conversion Fee payable to Marriott
for the first ten years of the new franchise agreements for the 17 affected Hotels. The franchise conversion fee cbligations liability was
$10,825 at December 31, 2004. The Company also recognized a “deferred franchise conversion fees” asset in the same amount as the
liabilities described above. The net deferred franchise conversion fee asset was $9,864 at December 31, 2004,

Management Conversion of Marriott-Managed Hotels. Between April 2003 and August 2003, the Company, the IH Lessee,
Marriott and various affiliates thereof completed a transaction under which the IH Lessee (1) converted the agreements under which
17 of our Hotels were franchised and managed by Marriott into long-term franchise agreements with Marriott and (2) became the
manager of the Hotels. The TRSs assumed the IH Lessee’s obligations under the agreements executed in connection with this
transaction. Under those agreements, the TRSs will pay Marriott (1) a franchise fee of 6.5% of room revenues for the first ten years of
each franchise agreement and a 5% royalty thereafter (as compared to 5% of gross revenues under the previous agreements with
Marriott) and (2} $850,000 plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (as defined in the agreement with Marriott) in excess of a
specified threshold each year for 10 years, beginning in 2004 (the “Conversion Fee”). In addition, a portion of the Conversion Fee will
be waived for a year if the converted Hotels’ room revenues decline below certain levels and certain other conditions are met. The
Conversion Fee was subject to an aggregate credit of $750,000 from Marriott; we applied $375,000 of the credit to the $850,000
Conversion Fee due for 2004 which will be paid in 2005. Other than the fees discussed above, the fees required under the franchise
agreements are generally similar to the fees (other than management fees) that were required by the previous Marriott management
agreements. This transaction is referred to as the “Marriott Takeback Transaction.”




2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Innkeepers, the Partnership and the
TRSs after elimination of all inter-company accounts and transactions.

Investment in Hotel properties. Hotel properties are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets (5 years for furniture and equipment, 15 years for land improvements and 5 to 40 years for
buildings and improvements). Costs directly related to the acquisition and development of Hotels are capitalized. Property taxes and
insurance, and interest incurred during the development period are also capitalized.

Upon sale or disposition of an asset, the asset and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and the gain
or loss is included in operations.

The Company periodically reviews the carrying value of each Hotel property to determine if circumstances that indicate
impairment in the carrying value of the investment exist or that depreciation periods should be modified. If circumstances support the
possibility of impairment, the Company prepares a projection of the undiscounted future cash flows, without interest charges, of the
Hotel for a period of time determined by the Company. The Company compares this cash flow to the investment in the Hotel to
determine if the investment is recoverable over such period. If impairment is indicated, the carrying value of the Hotel property is
reduced to its estimated fair value based on the Company’s best estimate of the Hotel’s discounted future cash flows.

Hotels held for sale. For Hotels classified as held for sale, the Company estimates the net selling price of such Hotel. Net selling
price is estimated as the amount at which the Hotel could be bought or sold (fair value) less costs to sell. Fair value is determined
considering prevailing market conditions and/or current estimated net sales proceeds from pending offers, if appropriate. If the Hotel’s
net selling price is less than the carrying amount of the Hotel, a reserve for loss is established. Depreciation is no longer recorded on
Hotels held for sale.

Cash and cash equivalents. All highly lignid debt investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased are
considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are placed with reputable institutions and the balances may at times exceed federal
depository insurance limits.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents include amounts the Company is required to be held in escrow by certain lenders for the
payment of property taxes and insurance and additional capital expenditures.

Accounts receivable. Credit evaluations are performed and an allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for accounts
receivable that are estimated to be uncollectible. The allowance for doubtful accounts is $58,000 at December 31, 2004,

Prepaid and other. Prepaid and other consist primarily of prepaid insurance.

Deferred and other. Deferred and other are recorded at cost and consist of the following at December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2004 2003
Loan origination fees $ 5384 $ 5,768
Franchise conversion 10,945 5,249
Lease acquisition costs 5,231 3,895
Advances to TH Lessee 535 860
Franchise fees 1,044 839
Deposit on acquisition of Hotels 1,784 —
Other 80 79

25,003 16,690
Accumulated amortization (4,904) (3,867)

$20,099 $12,823

Loan origination fees are amortized using the interest method over the original terms of the related indebtedness, which are three
to 12 years. The franchise conversion and the lease acquisition costs are amortized over the life of the related management agreements
which is 10 years using the straight-line method. Amortization of franchise fees is computed using the straight-line method over the
original lives of the franchise agreements, which range from approximately seven to 20 years.

Minority interest. Minority interest represents the common unit holders’ proportionate share in the capital of the Partmership and
the Class B Preferred Unit holders’ liquidation preference in the Partnership. Income is allocated to the preferred unit holders based on
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their priority in the earnings of the Partnership (which is equal to the distribution preference of the preferred unit holders as described
in Note 5); and, income or loss is allocated to the common unit holders based on their weighted average percentage ownership in the
Partnership.

Revenue recognition. At December 31, 2004, all 69 of the Hotels were leased by the Company to the TRSs under percentage
lease agreements that provide for the payment of percentage lease Rent based on room revenues. Percentage lease rent paid by the
TRS to Innkeepers USA is eliminated in consolidation.

Hotel operating revenue is recognized as earned.

Advertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Included in franchise and marketing fees are fees (generally a
percentage of room revenue) payable to marketing funds of the franchisors.

Stock based compensation. The Company accounts for share option grants in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and related Interpretations. Under APB 25, no compensation expense is
recognized for employee share option grants because the exercise price of the options granted to date has equaled the market price of
the underlying shares on the date of grant (the “intrinsic value method”).

If the Company had recognized compensation cost for options granted to employees and trustees based on the “fair value”
method, the Company would have recognized compensation cost of less than $90,000 for each of the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002. This would have reduced diluted net income (loss) available to common shareholders per share by less than $0.01 in
each of these years. The fair value of each share option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following assumptions: (1) common dividend yield of 2.6%, (2) expected volatility in the Company’s common share price of
22%, (3) a risk-free interest rate of 3.5% to 4.1% and (4) an expected option life of four years.

Distributions. The Company intends to pay distributions which, at a minimum, will be sufficient for the Company to maintain
its REIT status,

Income taxes. The Company has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust under the Internal Revenue Code. Eamings
and profits, which determine the taxability of distributions to the Company’s shareholders, will differ from net income (loss) reported
for financial reporting purposes primarily due to the differences in the estimated useful lives and methods used to compute
depreciation for federal income tax purposes, loss on Hotels classified as held for sale included in discontinued operations and loss
(gain) on the sale of Hotels.

The following table sets forth certain per share information regarding the Company’s common and preferred share distributions
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

2004 2003 2002

Common shares

Ordinary income $§ 01800 § 00312 $ 03860
Return of capital — 0.1388 0.0140
Capital gain — — —
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain — — —
Total distribution $ 01800 $ 0.1700 §  0.4000
Preferred shares

Ordinary income $ 203900 § 210832 § 2.08064
Return of capital — — 0.07560
Capital gain — — —
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain — — —
Total distribution $ 203900 $§ 210832 § 215624

The Company and the TRSs are subject to federal and state income taxes. The TRSs account for income taxes in accordance
with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). Under
SFAS 109, income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. These differences are primarily related to the amortization of deferred franchise conversion
recognized for financial statements purposes and the associated cash payments recognized for income tax purposes. The TRSs have
cumulative future income tax deductions of $3,549,000 (related primarily to accumulated net operating losses) at December 31, 2004
and the gross deferred tax asset associated with these future tax deductions was $1,267,000. The net operating losses expire
commencing in the year 2018. The TRSs have recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of the gross deferred tax asset due to the
uncertainty of realizing the benefit of this asset.
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Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include the fair value of financial instruments, accounts
receivable, allowance for doubtful accounts and the fair value of Hotels that are held for sale or impaired.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable
and accrued expenses payable to manager, and distributions payable approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

The recorded amount of debt after a fair value market adjustment approximates the fair value of debt and is estimated based on
current interest rates believed to be available to the Company for similar debt. The recorded amount of debt has been increased by a
fair value market adjustment of $1.8 million at December 31, 2004 relating to a mortgage note with a stated interest rate of 10.35%
and a fair value market interest rate of 7.0%.

Reclassifications. Certain amounts in the 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified in order to
conform to the 2004 presentation with no effect on previously reported shareholders’ equity or net income (loss).

3. 2005 Events.

In January 2005, the Company acquired an existing 83-room Hampton Inn in Columbia, Maryland for $10 million, including
closing costs and anticipated capital expenditures.

In January 2003, the Company acquired an existing 190-room Hotel in Montvale, N.J., for $23 million, including closing costs
and anticipated capital expenditures. The Company closed the Hotel to begin a $5.0 renovation to convert the Hotel to a Courtyard
which is expected to reopen in 2006.

In February 2005, the Company sold a 112-room Residence Inn Hotel in Portland, OR for $8.5 million and a 120-room
Residence Inn Hotel in Vancouver, WA for $6.4 million.

In February 20035, the Company announced that David Bulger will retire as executive vice president, chief financial officer and
treasurer of Innkeepers USA Trust. Mr. Bulger will remain with the Company through the 2004 year-end reporting period.

In February 2003, the Company priced a public offering of 4.4 million common shares at $13.71 per share. The net proceeds of
the offering, after underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses, was $59.7 million. The net proceeds of
the offering were used to pay down a portion of the Company's outstanding indebtedness under its unsecured line of credit.

4. Acquisitions and Sales of Hotels

In July 2002, the Company sold a 109-suite Summerfield suites by Wyndham Hotel in West Hollywood, CA for $12.8 million
and recognized a gain on the sale of $530,000.

In September 2002, the Company developed and opened a 174-room Residence Inn by Marriott Hotel located in Saddle River,
NJ for $23 million. The Company leased the Hotel to the TRS and contracted with the IH Manager to manage the hotel.

In June 2003, the Company acquired an existing 203-room Hotel located in Atlantic City, NJ for $8.6 million. The Company
closed the Hotel in October 2004 to begin a $8.0 million renovation to convert the Hotel to a Courtyard which is expected to reopen in
2005. The Company leased the hotel to the TRS and contracted with the IH Manager to manage the hotel.

In September 2003, the Company sold an 88-suite Residence Inn Hotel located in Winston-Salem, NC for $2.1 million and a
recognized loss on the sale of $57,000.

In January 2004, the Company sold a 126-suite Residence Inn in Eden Prairie, MN for $4.0 million and recognized a gain on the
sale of $1,029,000 million.

In May 2004, the Company acquired an existing 216-room Four Points by Sheraton Hotel located in Ft. Walton Beach, FL for
$30.0 million. The Company leased the Hotel to the TRS and has a contract with Dimension Development Company, Inc.
(“Dimension”) to manage the Hotel. In consideration for helping the Company acquire the Hotel and for managing certain capital
projects, including projects mandated by the franchisor, Dimension will also receive a project management fee of $125,000 plus a
carried interest in the ownership of the Hotel. Dimension’s carried interest entitles it to cash distributions equal to 20% of the net (a)
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operating cash flow after the Company receives a cumulative return of 9.1% on its invested capital and (b) capital proceeds after the
Company has received its cumulative preferred return and a reimbursement of its invested capital.

In May 2004, the Company acquired an existing 146-suite Homewood Suites by Hilton Hotel located in San Antonio, TX for
$21.0 million from an affiliate of Dimension. The Company leased the Hotel to the TRS and contracted with the IH Manager to
manage the property.

In June 2004, the Company acquired an existing 182-room Hotel located in Louisville, KY for $6.4 million. The Company
closed the Hotel in October 2004 to begin a $5.0 miilion renovation to convert the Hotel to a Hampton Inn which is expected to
reopen in 2005. The Company will lease the Hotel to the TRS and anticipates contracting with the IH Manager to manage the

property.

In July 2004, the Company sold a 150 room Hampton Inn Hotel in Norcross, GA for $4.7 million and recognized a loss on the
sale of $247,000.

In September 2004, the Company acquired a land site in Valencia, CA, for $3.7 million to develop a 157-suite Embassy Suites
Hotel for $21.0 million. The Company will lease the land site to the TRS and anticipates contracting with the IH Manager to manage
the property.

In December 2004, the Company acquired an existing 1035-suite Doubletree Guest Suites Hotel in Washington, D.C., for $23
million, including closing costs and anticipated capital expenditures. The Company leased the Hotel to a TRS and contracted with the
IH Manager to manage the Hotel.

5. Debt
Debt is comprised of the following at December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Interest Rate Monthly Payment Principal Balance
2004 2003 Amount Beginning Maturity 2004 2003
(000s) (000s)
Variable rate debt
Line of Credit (5) 382 % — % @) (1) 072007 $59,574 § —
Industrial development bonds (3) (5) 3.00 2.40 (1) (1) 12/2014 10,000 10,000
Fixed rate debt
Mortgage note (4) 10.35 10.35 141,000 11/1996(2) 06/2010 14,903 15,532
First Term Loan 8.17 8.17 256,000 10/1997(2)  10/2007 24,269 25,282
Second Term Loan 8.15 8.15 355,000 04/1999(2)  03/2009 36,233 37,439
Third Term Loan 7.02 7.02 292,000 04/2000(2) 04/2010 36,286 37,172
Fourth Term Loan 7.16 7.16 437,000 10/2002(2)  10/2009 35,600 56,749
Fifth Term Loan 7.75 7.75 378,000 02/2005(2) 01/2011 50,000 50,000

$286,865 $232,174

(1) Interest only payments are due monthly.

(2) Interest only is due monthly until principal amortization begins at the date indicated.

(3) Includes an annual letter of credit fee of 1.25%.

(4) Includes a fair value market adjustment of $1,834,000 to derive a fair market value interest rate of 7.0%.
(5) Interestrate is at December 31, 2004

The industrial development bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is based upon the 30-day yield of a group of tax-exempt
securities selected by an independent third party. The industrial development bonds are collateralized by letters of credit.

In July 2004 the Company entered into a new $135,000,000 Line of Credit. The interest rate on the Line of Credit ranges from
LIBOR plus 122.5 to 225 basis points depending on certain financial ratios. The Line of Credit matures in July 2007. The Company’s
line of credit outstanding balance was $59,574,000 at December 31, 2004, The actual amount that can be borrowed is subject to
borrowing base availability as described in the loan agreement.

Four of the Company’s five term loan agreements contain a debt service coverage ratio requirement ranging from 1.30 to 1.50

times. The Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in its Line of Credit and term loan agreements at
December 31, 2004.
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At December 31, 2004, 39 of the Company’s Hotel properties (with a net book value of $426,221,000) collateralized the
Company’s fixed rate debt and 30 of the Company’s Hotel properties were unencumbered. For the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, the Company capitalized interest of §0, $0, and $767,000, respectively, in connection with Hotels under development.

Future scheduled principal payments for the Company’s debt at December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Amount
2005 $ 5,884
2006 6,399
2007 87,140
2008 6,006
Thereafter 181,436
$ 286,865

The Company’s Declaration of Trust limits the consolidated indebtedness of the Company to 50.0% of the Company’s
investment in Hotel properties, after giving effect to the Company’s use of proceeds from any indebtedness. The Company’s
consolidated indebtedness was approximately 30.4% of its investment in Hotel properties at December 31, 2004.

6. Capital Shares and Partnership Interests

The Company’s Board of Trustees is authorized to issue 100 million common shares and 20 million preferred shares in one or
more series, to establish the number of shares in each series and to fix the designation, powers, preferences, and rights of each such
series and the qualifications, limitations or restriction thereof.

In the second quarter 2002, Innkeepers completed the sale of 2,600,000 common shares in an underwritten public offering. The
gross and net proceeds of the offering were $26,338,000 and $24,926,000, respectively. Innkeepers contributed the net proceeds to the
Partnership in exchange for 2,600,000 common units of limited partnership interest in the Partnership (“Common Units”) and the
Partnership used the net proceeds of the offering to repay borrowings outstanding under the Line of Credit.

The Company had 4,630,000 8.625% Series A cumulative convertible preferred shares of beneficial interest (the “Series A
Preferred Shares”) outstanding at December 31, 2003. The Partnership issued to Innkeepers the same number of Class A preferred
units of limited partnership interest (“Class A Preferred Units”). The Series A Preferred Shares were convertible into 1.4811 common
shares at any time and, therefore, the Company had reserved 6,857,493 common shares for issuance upon conversion. The Series A
Preferred Shares were redeemable by the Company after May 18, 2003 at the liquidation preference of $25 per share and had no stated
maturity or sinking fund requirements. The Series A Preferred Shares were entitled to annual dividends equal to the greater of (i)
$2.15624 per share ($0.53906 per share payable quarterly) or (ii) the cash dividend paid or payable on the number of common shares
into which a Series A Preferred Share was convertible.

In January 2004, the Company completed an offering of 5,800,000 8.0% Series C cumulative preferred shares (“Series C
Preferred Shares™). The Series C Preferred Shares may be redeemed at the $25 per share liquidation preference at the election of the
Company on or after January 20, 2009. The Series C Preferred Shares have no stated maturity, sinking fund or mandatory redemption
and are not convertible into any other securities of the Company. The net proceeds from the offering were $140.3 million. The
Company used $115.7 million to redeem all of the Company’s outstanding Series A Preferred Shares and the balance was used for
general corporate purposes. In connection with the redemption of the Series A Preferred Shares, the Company expensed (as additional
preferred share dividends) the offering costs of $4,249,000 related to the initial issuance of the Series A Preferred Shares.

Limited partners (other than Innkeepers) who hold Common Units have redemption rights (“Redemption Rights™) which enable
them to cause the Partnership to redeem each of their Common Units for cash at the then-current fair market value of a common share
or, at Innkeepers’ option, one common share. All of the Redemption Rights are currently effective. The Parmership has issued to
Innkeepers Common Units equal to the number of Innkeepers’ common shares outstanding. The Partnership will issue additional
Common Units to Innkeepers for any additional common shares it issues, in exchange for Innkeepers’ contribution to the Partnership
of the net proceeds from the common share issuance.

Additionally, limited partners who hold class B preferred units of limited partnership interest in the Partnership (“Class B
Preferred Units” and collectively with the Commeon Units, “Units”) have Redemption Rights which enable them to cause the
Partnership to redeem each of their Class B Preferred Units for cash at the then-current fair market value of a common share or, at
Innkeepers’ option, one common share. The Class B Preferred Units have a liquidation preference of $11.00 per unit, may be
converted into Common Units at any time on a one-for-one basis and will be converted into Common Units on November 1, 2006
unless previously converted or redeemed. Quarterly preferred distributions are payable on each Class B Preferred Unit, and are based
on the dividends payable on the common shares (the minimum Class B Preferred Unit annual distribution is $1.10 and the maximum
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is $1.155). The current quarterly distribution rate is $0.275 for each Class B Preferred Unit ($1.10 on an annualized basis). The Class
B Preferred Units distributions are reflected in the accompanying statement of operations as “minority interest, preferred.”

In 2004 and 2003, the Company issued 50,180 and 657 common shares in redemption of the same number of Common Units,
respectively. The Company did not redeem for cash any Common Units in 2004 and 2003.

The following table summarizes the dividends or distributions declared on each Series A and C Preferred Share, Class B
Preferred Unit and common share and Common Unit for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:
2004 2003 2002

Series C ClassB Common Series A ClassB  Common Series A ClassB  Common
Preferred Preferred share Preferred Preferred share Preferred Preferred share

Share Unit And Unit Share Unit and Unit Share Unit and Unit

First quarter $ 0.53900 $ 0.27500 $ 0.03 § 0.53906 $ 0.27500 $ 008 $ 0.53906 $§ 0.27500 $ 0.08

Second quarter 0.50000 0.27500 0.03 0.53906 0.27500 0.03 0.53906 0.27500 0.08

Third quarter 0.50000 0.27500 0.06 0.53906 0.27500 0.03 0.53906 0.27500 0.08

Fourth quarter 0.50000 0.27500 0.06 049114 0.27500 0.03 0.53906 0.27500 0.08
Fourth quarter —

special — — — — — — — — 0.08

$ 2.039 $ 1.10000 § 0.18 $ 2.10832 § 1.10000 § 0.17 § 2.15624 § 1.10000 $ 0.40

The timing and amount of any future dividends will be determined by the Company’s Board of Trustees based on factors it
deems relevant.

7. Percentage Lease Revenue

Each Percentage Lease provides for the payment of percentage lease rent each year based on the annual room revenues of the
Hotel, subject to a minimum base lease rent. The table below sets forth the percentage lease rent and base lease rent earned by the
Company from the TRSs or IH Lessee for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands).

2004 2003 2002
Base Lease Rent $ 3,615 $ 65,160 $ 65466
Percentage Lease Rent 1,469 17,190 23,860
Base and Percentage Lease rent classified in discontinued operations (74) (5,726) (6,205)

$ 5,010 $ 76,624 $ 83,121

8. Earnings per Share

The foilowing table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands, except share and per share data):

2004 2003 2002
(Note 14) (Note 14) (Note 14)
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 13,471 $ 4,968 $ 6,176
Series A preferred share issuance costs (4,249) — —
Preferred share dividends (11,489) (9,983) (9,983)
Loss applicable to common shareholders from continuing
operations (2,267) (5,015) (3,807)
Discontinued operations 1,129 (13,129) (7,933)
Gain on sale of Hotel — — 530
Net loss applicable to common shareholders $ (1,138) $ (18,144) $ (11,210)
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings (loss) per share —
weighted average shares 37,576,641 37,357,033 35,954,229
Effect of dilutive securities: :
Stock options 155,283 1,135 16,719




Restricted shares 149,150 104,574 118,003

Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share —
adjusted weighted average shares and assumed

conversions 37,881,074 37,462,742 36,088,951
Loss per share data:

Basic-continuing operations $ (0.06) 3 (0.13) 3 (0.11)
Discontinued operations 0.03 (0.35) (0.22)
Gain on sale of Hotel — — 0.01
Basic $ (0.03) 3 (0.49) $ 0.31)
Diluted-continuing operations $ (0.06) $ (0.13) 3 0.11)
Discontinued operations 0.03 (0.35) (0.22)
Gain on sale of Hotel — — 0.01
Diluted $ (0.03) $ (0.49) $ 0.31)

The conversion of Common Units into common shares has no effect on eamnings (loss) per share. The conversion of the
Series A Preferred Shares (which were redeemed in January 2004), the Class B Preferred Units and 1,088,000 outstanding options are
anti-dilutive (i.e. assuming conversion into common shares would increase eamings per share or lower the loss per share) and are not
included in the calculation of diluted loss per share. The denominator used for calculating diluted loss per share is the same as the
denominator for calculating basic loss per share due to a loss incurred in each period presented.

9. Share-Based Compensation Plans

The Company’s share incentive plan for employees and officers (the “1994 Plan”) reserves 3,700,000 common shares for
issuance {a) upon the exercise of incentive share options and non-qualified options or (b) as restricted shares and performance shares.
Options granted under the 1994 Plan expire not more than ten years from the date of grant. The Company may grant up to 1,200,000
restricted shares and performance shares under the 1994 Plan. Restricted shares issued to date have voting and dividend rights from
the date granted. At December 31, 2004, there were 1,444,612 common shares available for issuance under the 1994 Plan, including a
maximum of 228,362 restricted and performance shares.

The exercise price of common share options may not be less than fair market value of the common shares at the date of grant.
The table below delineates information concerning common share options for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002.

2004 2003 2002
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
Shares Average Shares Average Shares Average
Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 1,281,500 § 11.99 1,281,500 § 11.54 1,281,500 § 11.54
Granted — — — — — —
Exercised 278,500 — — — — —
Cancelled — — - — — -
Forfeited — — — — — —
Outstanding at end of year 1,003,000 $ 11.99 1,281,500 $ 11.54 1,281,500 § 11.54
2004 2003 2002
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
Shares Average Shares Average Shares Average
Underlying Exercise  Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
Exercisable at end of year 1,003,000 $ 1199 1,223,500 $ 11.60 1,165,500 $§ 11.67
Weighted average fair value of options granted - —
Price range of shares under option $ 975t $ 888to $ 8.88to
$ 13.69 3 13.69 $ 13.69

Of the 1,003,000 common share options outstanding, 4,500 are incentive share options and 998,500 are non-qualified options.
The incentive share options and non-qualified options vest over varying periods, not exceeding ten and five years, respectively.
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Under the 1994 Plan, the Company granted 50,000, 200,000 and 0 restricted shares to employeesfor 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, subject to a vesting schedule. Of the 971,638 restricted shares granted under the 1994 Plan, 790,638 restricted shares
were vested at December 31, 2004. The weighted average grant date fair value per share of the restricted shares granted in 2004 and
2003 was $8.48 and $6.52, respectively.

The Company’s trustees share incentive plan provides for the granting of up to 200,000 incentive share options and restricted
shares to trustees. Restricted shares have voting and dividend rights from the date granted. Options granted under the trustees plan
expire not more than ten years from the date of grant.

The Company has granted an aggregate of 100,000 non-qualified options to trustees with exercise prices ranging from $6.93 to
$16.69. The common share options vest over varying periods not exceeding five years. As of December 31, 2004, 85,000 of these
common share options, with a weighted average exercise price of $9.81, were vested with 15,000 common share options exercised and
no common share options have been forfeited or terminated.

The Company has also granted 75,053 restricted shares at a weighted average grant date fair value per share of $10.99 to its
non-employee trustees, which vest over varying periods not to exceed five years. At December 31, 2004, 66,221 of these restricted
shares were vested.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

The Hotels are operated under franchise agreements as Residence Inn, Summerfield Suites by Wyndham, Homewood suites by
Hilton, Doubletree Guest Suites, Four Points by Sheraton, Courtyard, Hampton Inn, TownePlace Suites and Holiday Inn Express. The
Company has paid the cost of obtaining or transferring certain franchise license agreements. The Company loaned the IH Lessee
$535,000 and $860,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003 for the working capital deposit required under the TH Lessee’s former
management agreements with wholly-owned subsidiaries of Marriott. The IH Manager has assumed this obligation. These advances
are uncollateralized, due on demand and bear no interest. The franchise agreements require the lessees to pay fees based on
percentages of Hotel revenue and certain other fees.

The Company has guaranteed the TRSs obligations under the franchise agreements, and the Company Subsidiaries that own the
Hotels subject to franchise agreements with Marriott and subsidiaries of Hilton Hotels Corporation have effectively guaranteed those
franchise agreements. The TRSs are parties to, and thereby directly responsible for, the franchise agreements.

Under the Percentage Leases, the Company is obligated to pay the costs of certain capital improvements, property taxes and
insurance for the Hotels (except that the TRSs are required to pay property insurance on six of the Hotels ). Additionally, the
Company must make available to the TRSs an amount equal to 4% or 5% of room revenues from the Hotels per month on a
cumulative basis, for the periodic replacement or refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital
expenditures at the Hotels (subject to certain exceptions). Each of the term loans require that the Company make available for such
purposes, for the Hotels collateralizing those loans, varying amounts up to 5% of gross revenues from such Hotels.

The Company has two fifty-year term ground leases expiring August 2034 and May 2035, respectively, and a 98-year term
ground lease expiring October 2084, on the land underlying three of its Hotels. Minimum annual rent payable under these leases is
$517,000 in the aggregate, subject to increase based on increases in the consumer price index.

With respect to 13 of the Hotels, if the Company were to sell those Hotels in taxable transactions, the Company would become
liable for certain tax liabilities incurred by Unit holders who exchanged interests in those Hotels for Units in the Partnership when the
Company acquired the Hotels. The tax reimbursement liability with respect to a Hotel is generally limited to a period within 10 years
of the Hotel’s acquisition date.

11. Related Party Transactions

The Company reimbursed the IH Lessee $250,000 in 2004 for costs incurred during the Marriott Takeback Transaction.

The TH Manager reimbursed the Company $132,000 in 2004 for its proportionate share of leasehold improvement costs incurred
for shared office space.

The Company reimbursed the IH Manager in 2004 and the IH Lessee in 2003 and 2002 $12,000, $100,000, and $100,000,
respectively, for shared personnel and services (which included human resources and telephone costs). In 2003 and 2002 the
$100.000 reimbursement included IT services which are not included in 2004.

The Company, the IH Lessee and the TH Manager replaced the majority of their corporate information technology (“IT™)
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infrastructure in 2003. The total cost of the new IT infrastructure was approximately $1.0 million, which was funded by the
Company. In 2004, the Company, the IH Lessee and the IH Manager agreed to a cost sharing agreement under which the Company
reimbursed the IH Manager for 50% of the total costs (including depreciation on the IT infrastructure) of operating and maintaining
the IT function. The Company reimbursed the IH Manager $170,000 for the IT function in 2004.

The Company reimbursed the IH Manager in 2004 and the IH Lessee in 2003 and 2002 for its proportionate share of rent under
a lease for corporate office space, which was $54,000, $217,000, and $217,000 respectively. The Company reimbursed the I[H
Manager for it proportionate share of rent for the first quarter 2004 and paid the landlord directly for its proportionate share of rent for
the second, third and fourth quarters of 2004.

The Company has engaged an affiliate of Hatchett Hospitality (“Hatchett™) to perform certain renovation projects. The
Company paid approximately $1,006,000 and $2,400,000 to Hatchett during 2004 and 2003, respectively. We may enter into
additional renovation contracts with the Hatchett affiliate in 2005. The affiliate of Hatchett is approximately 45% owned by Equity
Inns, Inc. (“Equity”’). The IH Manager manages four Hotels owned by Equity. These contracts assisted the IH Manager in qualifying
to manage the Company’s Hotels under tax law applicable to a REIT.

In connection with the TRS Transaction, the Company and the IH Manager agreed that the Company would assume the
purchasing functions previously performed by the IH Lessee and the Company in 2004 was responsible for all purchasing duties. The
parties initially contracted with the TH Manager to furnish these services. The Company performed all purchasing activities in 2004
and the accounting services fee due under the management agreements with the [H Manager was reduced from $750 per Hotel per
month to $550 per Hotel per month for 2004. The IH Manager will be responsible for all purchasing functions in 2005 and the
accounting services fee will be increased to $750 per Hotel per month.

The Company and the IH Manager entered into a self-insured Workers’ Compensation plan which commenced in the fourth
quarter 2004.

The IH Lessee and the IH Manager obtained an employee practices liability insurance policy covering the IH Lessee, the IH
Manager and the Company. The Company has reimbursed the IH Manager in 2004 and the IH Lessee for 2003 and 2002 for its share
of the policy or one-third of the premium, which was $53,000, $64,000, and $60,000 for 2004, 2003 and 2002.

The TH Lessee maintains a health benefit plan in which the Company’s employees participate. The Company’s reimbursement
to the TH Manager or the IH Lessee is based on the number of Company employees participating in the plan and the coverage and
benefit levels selected by those employees. The Company has reimbursed the IH Manager in 2004 and the IH Lessee in 2003 and
2002 $111,000, $72,000, and $66,000 respectively, under this arrangement.

As a result of renovations made during the first quarter of 2003 at the Company’s Hampton Inn — Norcross, GA which
required a substantial number of rooms to be taken out of service, the Company agreed to compensate the IH Lessee for the significant
loss of room nights by reducing the percentage lease rent payable for this Hotel by approximately $110,000.

From the inception in 2000 of the litigation described in Note 12 through the settlement of the litigation, the Company and the
[H Lessee incurred a total of $330,000 in legal fees and related costs that were not paid or reimbursed by insurance. The Company
paid $243,000 of the amount incurred and the TH Lessee paid $87,000 of the amount incurred.

The Company reimbursed the IH Manager $5,000 in 2004 for certain pre-opening costs incurred relating to Hotels acquired in
2004 and which the TH Manager will manage.

See also Notes 10 and 12 for additional related party transaction disclosures.
12. Litigation Settlement

In May 2000, the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer (who was a minority shareholder in certain of the IH Lessee
entities) filed suit against the Company, the [H Lessee and Mr. Fisher. The suit alleged that he was wrongfully terminated by the
Company in breach of his employment contract with the Company, was wrongfully terminated by the IH Lessee under his
employment contract with the IH Lessee, was injured by various breaches of fiduciary duty by Mr. Fisher in his capacity as a director
and majority shareholder of the IH Lessee, and various other related claims against the Company and the IH Lessee. Under a
settlement agreement, the Company (and the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher) made various payments to plaintiff in cash and/or common
shares of the Company and Mr. Fisher delivered to plaintiff a promissory note. The promissory note (1) bears interest at the prime
rate subject to a minimum rate of 4.5% and a maximum rate 0f9.0%, (2) is the joint and several liability of Mr. Fisher, the IH
Manager and certain other Hotel management or leasing entities in which he may in the future have more than a 50% ownership
interest, (3} will fully amortize over its term with monthly payments beginning on February 1, 2005, (4) matures on December 31,
2015 and (5) is collateralized by management fees to be paid to the IH Manager by the Company. The IH Manager has directed the
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Company to cause the TRS to fund certain management fee payments owed to the IH Manager to an account controlied by the
plaintiff, which will be used to service the note. The litigation was dismissed against the Company and the [H Lessees when it made
the payments described above, and was dismissed against Mr. Fisher when he made the payments and delivered the promissory note
described above.

13. Other Charges
Other charges for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 include the following (amounts in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Legal fees $ - $ (629y § 372
Litigation settlement - 60 2,946
Advisory services -- 909 149
TRS Transaction costs 233 884 —
Marriott Takeback Transaction 250 — —
Severance costs 392 -- --

$ 875 $ 1,224 § 3,467

The Legal fees and Litigation settlement are related to litigation with the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer (see
Note 12). The advisory fees (which include legal fees to the special committee of the Board of Trustees) and TRS Transaction costs
are related to the TRS Transaction (see Note 1). The severance costs are related to the departure of a former officer. The Company
reimbursed the IH Manager for expenses incurred for the transition of 17 Hotel properties managed by Marriott to the IH Manager as
part of the Marriott Tackback Transaction.

14. Discontinued Operations

In 2002, the Company adopted the provision of FASB No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposa! of Long-Lived
Assets.” In the third quarter of 2002, the Company classified one of its Hotels as held for sale. The Company ceased depreciation of
the Hotel. As a result of the held for sale classification, the Company reduced the carrying value of this Hotel to its estimated fair
value (less anticipated costs to sell) of $2,000,000 and recognized a loss of $3,713,000. The Company sold this Hotel in September
2003 and recognized a loss on the sale of $57,000.

In 2003, the Company classified another one of its Hotels as held for sale. In 2002, the Company recognized an impairment
charge of $6,500,000 related to this Hotel. An additional loss in 2003 was not necessary as a result of the held for sale classification.
The Company sold this Hotel in January 2004 and recognized a gain on the sale of $1,029,000.

In 2004, the Company classified three additional Hotel as held for sale. In 2003, the Company recognized an impairment charge
of $11.4 million related to two of these three Hotels. An additional loss of $380,000 was recognized for one of the two Hotels as a
result of the held for sale classification in 2004. The Company recognized a loss on the third Hotel that was held for sale of $246,000
in 2004, The Company sold a hotel in July 2004 and recognized a loss on the sale of $247,000. In 2003, the Company recognized an
impairment charge of $3.8 million related to the hotel. -

The results of operations from these five Hotels are classified as discontinued operations in 2004 and results of operations for
six Hotels are classified as discontinued operations in 2003. Previously reported results of operations of these Hotels have been
reclassified to reflect that these Hotels are held for sale (or were held for sale prior to being sold).

The following table sets forth the components of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002 (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Hotel operating revenue $ 9,168 $ 453 $ —
Percentage lease revenue 74 5,726 6,205
Other income 79 72 94
Hotel operating expenses (6,283) (404) —
Depreciation (1,564) (2,636) (2,937)
Amortization of franchise fees (12) (13) (14)
Property taxes and insurance (453) (940) (1,003)

General and administrative 3) 87) (65)




Gain (loss) on sale of Hotel 782 (57) —

Loss on Hotels classified as held for sale (626) (15,243) (10,213)
Other (33) — —
Discontinued operations $ 1,129 $ (13,129) $ (7,933)

15. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 123 (revised 2004). This Statement establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity
exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. It also addresses transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange
for goods or services that are based on the fair value of the entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those
equity instruments. This Statement focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in
share-based payment transactions. The final Statement is effective for any interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2005,
meaning that an entity would apply the final Statement to all employee awards of share-based payment granted, modified, or settled in
any interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company is reviewing the statement and evaluating the impact, if
any, of this statement.
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RISK FACTORS

SOME OF THE INFORMATION YOU WILL FIND IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K, AND IN OUR OTHER
FILINGS UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND OUR PROSPECTUSES OR ANY PROSPECTUS
SUPPLEMENTS, MAY CONTAIN “FORWARD-LOOKING” STATEMENTS. ALSO, DOCUMENTS SUBSEQUENTLY FILED BY US
WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION MAY CONTAIN FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. YOU CAN
IDENTIFY THESE TYPES OF STATEMENTS BY THEIR USE OF FORWARD-LOOKING WORDS SUCH A4S “MAY,” “SHOULD,”
“COULD,” “PLANS,” “INTENDS, ” “EXPECTS,” “"ANTICIPATES,” “ESTIMATES,” “PROJECTS, " “CONTINUES, " “IS
DESIGNED T0O,” “POTENTIAL” OR OTHER SIMILAR WORDS. THESE TYPES OF STATEMENTS DISCUSS FUTURE EVENTS
OR EXPECTATIONS OR CONTAIN PROJECTIONS OR ESTIMATES. WHEN CONSIDERING THESE FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS, YOU SHOULD KEEP IN MIND THE FOLLOWING RISK FACTORS, AS WELL AS OTHER FACTORS THAT ARE
DESCRIBED IN OUR FILINGS WITH THE SEC FROM TIME TO TIME. THESE RISK FACTORS COULD CAUSE OUR ACTUAL
RESULTS TO DIFFER MATERIALLY AND ADVERSELY FROM THOSE CONTAINED IN OR IMPLIED BY ANY FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENT. THE WORDS (4) “"THE COMPANY,” “WE,” “US,” “OUR,” “OURS” AND WORDS OF SIMILAR
IMPORT REFER TO INNKEEPERS USA TRUST OR INNKEEPERS USA TRUST AND ITS CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES, AS THE
CONTEXT REQUIRES, (B) “THE PARTNERSHIP” REFERS TO INNKEEPERS USA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, OR INNKEEPERS
USA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND ITS PARTNERSHIP SUBSIDIARIES, AS THE CONTEXT REQUIRES, OR (C) “YOU” OR
“YOUR” REFERS TO INVESTORS OR PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN THE COMPANY. OTHER CAPITALIZED TERMS USED
BUT NOT DEFINED IN THIS SECTION ARE DEFINED IN THE FOREPART OF THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K.

The following risk factors are not necessarily exhaustive, particularly as to possible future events, and new risk factors may
emerge periodically. Many things can happen that can cause our actual results to be very different than those we describe in our SEC
filings. Any statements we make that are not historical facts should be considered to be forward-looking statements. We make no
promise to update any of our forward-looking statements, or to publicly release the results if we revise any of them.

‘We rely on others to operate our Hotels.

In order for us to continue to qualify as a REIT, third parties must operate our Hotels. We lease all of our Hotels to our TRSs,
which in turn have entered into management agreements with the [H Manager or, in the case of one Hotel another party, to manage
our Hotels. While we have some input into operating decisions for those Hotels leased by our TRSs and operating under management
agreements, we have less control than if we were managing the Hotels ourselves. Even if we believe that our Hotels are not being
operated efficiently, we may not be able to require an operator to change the way it operates our Hotels. Jeffrey H. Fisher controls the
IH Manager, and he is the Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of our Board of Trustees. See “— Conflicts of interest and
related party transactions — The IH Lessee and the IH Manager” below.

After the TRS Transaction we have more exposure to Hotel operations than we did previously.

Our TRSs have engaged the TH Manager, and in the case of one Hotel another party, to manage our Hotels. We intend to
lease to our TRSs, and to engage third party managers (which will likely be the TH Manager) to manage, Hotels that we acquire and
develop in the future. Under that structure, our TRSs (and, therefore, indirectly, we) are subject to all of the operating risks of the
Hotels, whereas when the IH Lessee operated our Hotels under Percentage Leases, the IH Lessee retained most of the risks of the
operations of those Hotels. If the operating results of Hotels leased to a TRS decline or, with respect to newly acquired or developed
Hotels, do not perform to expectations, it will negatively affect our results, cash flow and ability to pay distributions. These operating
risks include declines in Hotel revenues and increases in Hotel operating expenses (including franchise fees and franchise-related
costs, labor costs, utilities, sales taxes and insurance (other than property insurance)). In additton, our TRSs will be required to pay a
management fee to the IH Manager or another third-party manager, regardiess of whether the Hotels are profitable. See “— Our
ability to make distributions to shareholders may be affected by factors beyond our control” below.

September 11, 2001’s events, a U.S. economic recession and military action negatively affected both the Hotel industry and our
results of operations and financial condition.

Before September 11, 2001, our Hotels had begun experiencing declining revenue per available room, or “RevPAR,” as a
result of the slowing U.S. economy. The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and the after-effects (including the prospects for more
terror alerts and/or terrorist attacks in the U.S.), as well as the economic climate, substantially reduced business and leisure travel
throughout the U.S. and Hotel industry RevPAR generally. RevPAR at our Hotels specifically declined substantially after September
11, 2001. Moreover, the war in Iraq (and possibly other regions) depressed, and could further depress, travel and the travel industry.
We cannot predict how these or similar events will directly or indirectly impact the Hotel industry or our operating results in the
future. There can be no assurance as to whether lodging industry fundamentals will continue to improve either generally or
specifically in the markets in which we own Hotels. RevPAR declines at our Hotels would have an adverse affect on our results of
operations and financial condition, including our ability to remain in compliance with our debt covenants, our ability to fund capital
improvements at our Hotels, and our ability to make shareholder distributions necessary to maintain our status as a REIT. Additional
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terrorist attacks, acts of war or similar events could have further material adverse effects on the Hotel industry and our operations in
particular.

We also were particularly adversely affected by our concentration of Hotels in California (and in the Silicon Valley area
specifically) and Boston where the decline of technology companies and business was pronounced. We own 10 Hotels that are located
in California and two in Boston. We do not know to what extent or how rapidly travel in and to these markets will continue to
rebound. The recovery in this area may lag a recovery in the economy in general. See “— Concentration of investment in California,
New Jersey, the Pacific Northwest, Florida, Illinois, Texas and Michigan” below.

Conflicts of interest and related party transactions.

Jeffrey H. Fisher. Jeffrey H. Fisher is our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President. Affiliates of Mr.
Fisher contributed Hotels to us on a favorable tax basis in connection with our initial public offering in 1994. The sale, refinancing or
prepayment of indebtedness secured by those Hotels may trigger adverse tax consequences to Mr. Fisher. Conflicts of interest,
therefore, exist between us and Mr. Fisher regarding any transaction involving those Hotels that could trigger adverse tax
consequences to Mr. Fisher or his affiliates.

The IH Manager. Between January 1, 2004 and March 1, 2004, the IH Lessee leased certain Hotels pursuant to percentage
leases. After the TRS Transaction, all but one of our Hotels is managed by the IH Manager under management agreements with our
TRSs. Mr. Fisher owned the [H Lessee and owns the TH Manager. In 2004, the IH Lessee paid rent to us under the percentage leases
of $2,954,000, and we paid the IH Manager management and accounting fees of $6,527,000.

Each of our management agreements with the IH Manager has an initial term of 10 years and may be renewed for two, five-
year periods at the option of the IH Manager. The management agreements provide for a base management fee of 3% of gross
revenues, an accounting fee of $750 per month per Hotel and an incentive management fee equal to 50% of Hotel available cash flow.
Hotel available cash flow is, generally, gross Hotel revenues less (a) Hotel operating expenses, including franchise fees, (b) the base
management and accounting services fees and {c) base and percentage rent paid by the TRSs to us. Under management agreements,
the TH Manager will not be responsible for any losses incurred by the TRSs (from Hotel operations or otherwise). The management
agreements provide generally for a termination fee to be paid to the IH Manager upon certain terminations of a management
agreement, including in connection with the sale of the related Hotel. The termination fee is the fair market value of the management
contract for the remainder of the then-current term. The cumulative amount of unpaid termination fees payable to the IH Manager at
any time will be netted against the fair market value of additional management contracts awarded to the TH Manager by the Company,
and the Company will pay to the IH Manager any net amount due to the IH Manager that has been outstanding for more than 365
days. To date, no termination fees have been paid to the IH Manager.

Because Mr. Fisher is our Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees, and controls the IH
Manager, conflicts of interest do or may exist between Mr. Fisher and us regarding (a) enforcement of the terms of the management
agreements, (b) whether and on what terms management agreements will be renewed upon the expiration of their current terms, (c)
whether and on what terms additional management contracts will be awarded to the IH Manager, (d) whether Hotel properties will be
sold and (e) the setting of rent formulas in the Percentage Leases (or re-setting rents in the case of expiring leases) between the
Company and the TRS, which impacts the [H Manager’s incentive management fees.

The Company has paid $100,000 to the IH Lessee for personnel services provided by the IH Lessee to us (which primarily
included human resources and telephone costs) in each of the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002. We also reimbursed the IH
Lessee for its proportionate share of rent under a lease for its corporate office space which was $54,000 in 2004 and $217,000 for each
of the years ended December 31, 2003, and 2002. The TH Manager reimbursed the Company $132,000 in 2004 for its proportionate
share of leasehold improvement costs incurred for shared office space.

Prior to August 2004, one business development employee performed services for the IH Manager and the Company. The
services provided by the employee were distinct as between the IH Manager and the Company, and the employee received a separate
fixed salary and was eligible for a separate bonus from each company. Each company set the salary level and bonus potential for the
employee based on his performance and value relative to the company paying the salary and bonus. As of August 2004, 100% of this
employee’s business time is spent on Company business only, and the Company is responsible for all of his compensation.

During 2004, and 2003 we engaged an affiliate of Hatchett Hospitality (“Hatchett”) to perform certain renovation projects
costing approximately $1.0 million. During 2005, we may enter into additional renovation contracts with the Hatchett affiliate. The
Hatchett affiliate is approximately 45% owned by Equity Inns, Inc. {“Equity”). The IH Manager currently manages four Hotels
owned by Equity. These contracts assisted the IH Manager in qualifying to manage the Company’s Hotels under tax law applicable to
a REIT.

The Company, the IH Lessee and the [H Manager replaced the majority of their corporate information technology (“IT”)
infrastructure in 2003. The total cost of the new IT infrastructure was approximately $1.0 million, which was initially funded by the
Company. The Company, the IH Lessee and the IH Manager agreed to a cost sharing agreement, commencing in 2004, under which
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the Company bears or reimburses the IH Lessee/IH Manager 50% of the total costs of operating and maintaining the IT function
(including depreciation taken by the Company on the IT infrastructure). The Company paid or reimbursed the IH Lessee/IH Manager
a total of $170,000 for the IT function in 2004.

The IH Lessee and, now, the IH Manager obtained an employee practices liability insurance policy which covers Company
employees. We reimbursed the IH Lessee or the IH Manager for one-third of the premium for this policy, which was $53,000 and
$64,000 and $60,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The IH Lessee and, now, the IH Manager maintained a health benefit plan in which our employees participated. Our
reimbursement is based on the number of our employees participating in the plan and the coverage and benefit levels selected by those
employees. We reimbursed the IH Lessee or the TH Manager $111,000 and $72,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, under this arrangement.

During the approximately four year litigation with our former Chief Operating Officer, who was a former minority owner and
President of the IH Lessee, the Company and the IH Lessee incurred a total of $330,000 in legal fees and related costs that were not
paid or reimbursed by insurance. We paid $243,000 of the amount incurred and the IH Lessee paid $87,000 of the amount incurred.

In 2003, we entered into an agreement with the IH Lessee and affiliates of Marriott for a transaction under which the IH
Lessee (a) converted the agreements under which 17 of our Hotels were managed by Marriott into long-term franchise agreements
with Marriott and (b) became the manager of the Hotels. Under the terms of the converted agreements, the IH Lessee (and the TRSs
following the TRS Transaction) agreed to (1) pay Marriott a franchise royalty of 6.5% of room revenues for the first 10 years of each
franchise agreement and 5% thereafier (as compared to 5% of gross revenues under the previous agreements with Marriott) and (2)
will pay Marriott $850,000 plus 50% of aggregate available cash flow (as defined in the agreement with Marriott) in excess of a
specified threshold each year for 10 years, beginning in 2004 {the “Conversion Fee”). As a result of the acquisition of the IH Lessee’s
Percentage Leases by the TRSs, the TRSs (and therefore, indirectly, we) assumed from the IH Lessee (which was owned by Mr.
Fisher) the franchise agreements described above, including the obligations to pay Marriott the higher royalty rate and the Conversion
Fee. In 2004, we reimbursed the IH Lessee $250,000 in out of pocket expenses incurred in connection with the IH Lessee’s takeover
of the 17 Hotels formerly managed by Marriott. The Company reimbursed the ITH Manager $5,000 for its actual out-of-pocket costs in
investigating acquisition and development opportunities for the Company that are incurred prior to the Company’s execution of a
purchase contract for the opportunity

Conflicts may arise with respect to whether certain expenditures are classified as capital expenditures, which are capitalized
by the Company and do not immediately affect earnings, or repairs and maintenance, which are expensed as incurred and therefore
reduce the amount available to be eamed by the IH Manager as incentive management fees.

From time to time, the Company has engaged, and in the future may engage, a brokerage firm with which Mr. Fisher’s adult
child is employed, in connection with certain acquisitions and dispositions.

Franchise licenses. We made $860,000 of loans to the IH Lessee, which the IH Lessee was required to make available to
Marriott for initial working capital at certain of the Hotels formerly managed by Marriott. These loans are unsecured, bear no interest,
and are payable on demand to the TH Manager. Approximately $325,000 has been repaid to date.

Under our management agreements, the IH Manager is generally responsible for complying with our various franchise
agreements, subject to our making sufficient funding available. Conflicts of interest exist between us and Mr. Fisher regarding the IH
Manager’s compliance with franchise agreements or other actions or failures to act by the IH Manager which couid result in liability
to us or our TRSs.

Jack P. DeBoer. In November 1996, we acquired seven Residence Inn by Marriott Hotels (the “DeBoer Hotels”) from
affiliates of Jack P. DeBoer (the “DeBoer Group”), including Rolf E. Ruhfus. Messrs. DeBoer and Ruhfus are members of our Board
of Trustees. The DeBoer Group received Class B preferred units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership (“Class B
Preferred Units™) in partial consideration for the acquisitions. Following the acquisition of the DeBoer Hotels, Mr. DeBoer joined our
Board of Trustees. Mr. DeBoer joined the board under an arrangement requiring us to nominate Mr. DeBoer for election to the Board
and to support his nomination, except if Mr. DeBoer (a) acts or fails to act in a manner that the Board deems detrimental to us and as a
result of which the Board determines unanimously that it cannot nominate Mr. DeBoer, (b) ceases to own at least 25% of the Class B
Preferred Units that he owned upon the closing of the acquisition of the DeBoer Hotels acquisition or (c) is legally disqualified from
serving as a trustee.

Due to the potential adverse tax consequences to members of the DeBoer Group that may result from a sale of the DeBoer
Hotels, we agreed that until November 2006, (i) a taxable sale of a DeBoer Hotel will require the consent of the applicable members
of the DeBoer Group and (ii) we will maintain at all times outstanding indebtedness of at least approximately $40 million (the
“Required Indebtedness”). The Required Indebtedness is subject to reduction upon the occurrence of certain events, including the
death of, or certain redemptions or taxable transfers of the Class B Preferred Units held by, members of the DeBoer Group. If we sell
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a DeBoer Hotel without the required consent or fail to maintain the Required Indebtedness, we agreed to indemnify the applicable
members of the DeBoer Group for certain resulting income tax liabilities, which could be substantial. Notwithstanding these
indemnification rights, and particularly afier the indemnification period ends, conflicts of interest may exist between us and Mr.
DeBoer regarding transactions involving the DeBoer Hotels that could trigger adverse tax consequences to some or all of the DeBoer
Group.

Mr. DeBoer and certain of his affiliates have in the past, and continue to be, involved in the development of Hotels, including
extended-stay Hotels. Hotels developed by Mr. DeBoer and his affiliates may compete with our Hotels for guests, and Hotel
companies with which Mr. DeBoer is affiliated may compete with us for acquisition opportunities and for qualified employees.
Accordingly, our interests and those of Mr. DeBoer could be different in connection with matters relating to our Hotels or proposed
acquisitions or developments that are competitive with Hotels owned or being considered for acquisition or development by Mr.
DeBoer and his affiliates.

Rolf E. Ruhfus. In June 1997, we acquired six Hotels (the “Summerfield Hotels”) from affiliates of Rolf E. Ruhfus (the
“Summerfield Group”). The Summerfield Group received common units of limited partnership interest in the Partnership (“Common
Units™) in partial consideration for the acquisitions. Following the acquisition of the Summerfield Hotels, Mr. Ruhfus joined our
board of trustees. Mr. Ruhfus joined the board under an arrangement requiring us to nominate Mr. Ruhfus for election to the board
and to support his nomination, except if Mr. Ruhfus (a) acts or fails to act in a manner that the board of trustees deems detrimental to
us and as a result of which the board determines unanimously that it cannot nominate Mr. Ruhfus, (b) ceases to own at least 25% of
the Common Units that he owned upon the closing of the Summerfield Hotel acquisition or (c) is legally disqualified from serving as a
trustee.

Mr. Ruhfus serves on the board of directors of Wyndham, which owns the Summerfield Suites by Wyndham brand under
which five of the Summerfield Hotels operate. Mr. Ruhfus’ dual roles as one of our trustees and a director of Wyndham may pose
conflicts regarding when, whether and to what extent obligations under the franchise agreements for the Summerfield Hotels will be
adhered to or remedies thereunder will be pursued or obtained by us.

Due to the potential adverse tax consequences to members of the Summerfield Group that may result from a sale of the
Summerfield Hotels, we agreed that until June 2007, any taxable sale of a Summerfield Hotel will require the consent of the
applicable members of the Summerfield Group. If we sell a Summerfield Hotel without the required consent, we agreed to indemnify
the applicable members of the Summerfield Group for certain resulting income tax liabilities, which could be substantial.
Notwithstanding this indemnification, and particularly after the indemnification period ends, conflicts of interest may exist between us
and Mr. Ruhfus regarding transactions involving the Summerfield Hotels that could trigger adverse tax consequences to some or all of
the Summerfietd Group.

Mr. Ruhfus and certain of his affiliates have in the past, and continue to be, involved in the development of Hotels, including
Summerfield Suites by Wyndham Hotels. As noted above, Mr. Ruhfus is a board member of Wyndham. Wyndham owns, operates
and franchises Summerfield Suites by Wyndham Hotels as well as other full and limited service Hotels and Hotel brands. An entity
controlled by Mr. Ruhfus also owns the Sierra Suites brand, which is a mid-priced extended-stay Hotel brand founded by Mr. Ruhfus.
Affiliates of Mr. Ruhfus own and operate several Sierra Suites Hotels and Summerfield Suites by Wyndham Hotels. Hotels developed
by Mr. Ruhfus and/or Wyndham, including Summerfield Suites by Wyndham Hotels, may compete with our Hotels for guests and
companies with which Mr. Ruhfus is affiliated may compete with us for acquisition opportunities and for qualified employees.
Accordingly, our interests and those of Mr. Ruhfus could be different in connection with matters relating to our Hotels or proposed
acquisitions that are competitive with Hotels owned or being considered for acquisition or development by Wyndham or other
affiliates of Mr. Ruhfus.

If we cannot obtain additional financing, our growth will be limited.

We are required to distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our taxable income each year in order to continue to qualify as
a REIT. As a result, our retained earnings available to fund acquisitions or development are nominal. We rely primarily upon the
availability of debt or equity capital to fund these activities. Our ability to grow through acquisitions or development of Hotels will be
limited if we cannot continue to obtain additional financing. Our ability to obtain more capital may also be limited by our Amended
and Restated Declaration of Trust (as amended or supplemented, our “Declaration of Trust™) which limits our outstanding
indebtedness to 50% of our investment in Hotel properties at cost, and some of our loan agreements impose more restrictions. Market
conditions may make it difficult to obtain financing and we cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain additional debt or equity
financing or that we will be able to obtain it on favorable terms.

We are subject to various risks related to our use of, and dependence on. debt.

The amount of interest we have to pay on outstanding variable rate debt, such as our line of credit, increases as interest rates
increase, which may decrease cash available for distribution to shareholders. We cannot assure you that we will be able to meet our
debt service obligations. If we do not meet our debt service obligations, we risk the loss of some or all of our assets to foreclosure.
Changes in economic conditions and/or our financial results or prospects could (a) result in higher interest rates on variable rate debt,
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(b) reduce the availability of debt financing generally or debt financing at favorable rates, (c) reduce cash available for distribution to
shareholders and (d) increase the risk that we could be forced to sell Hotels to repay debt, any of which could have a material adverse
affect on us.

If we violate covenants in our debt agreements, including under our line of credit, we could be required to repay all or a portion
of our indebtedness before maturity at a time when we might be unable to arrange financing for such repayment on attractive terms, if
at all. In that event, (a) our access to cash flow from such properties may be restricted, (b) we risk foreclosure on our Hotels subject to
the loan or (c) we may be forced to sell one or more Hotels on unfavorable terms. Violations of certain line of credit covenants may
result in our being unable to borrow unused amounts under our line of credit, even if repayment of some or all borrowings is not
required.

In any event, financial covenants under our current or future debt obligations could impair our planned business strategies, by
limiting our ability to borrow (a) beyond certain amounts or (b) for certain purposes, even if we think that such a borrowing is in the
Company’s best interests.

Qur ability to maintain our historic rate of distributions to our shareholders is subject to fluctuations in our financial
performance, operating results and capital improvement requirements.

As a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our taxable mcome each year to our shareholders. In the event of
continued or future downturns in our operating results and financial performance or unanticipated capital improvements to our Hotels,
we may be unable to declare or pay distributions to our shareholders at historical rates, or at all. The timing and amount of
distributions are in the sole discretion of our board of trustees, which will consider, among other factors, our financial performance,
debt service obligations and applicable debt covenants (if any), and capital expenditure requirements. From time to time, in the past,
we have reduced our common share dividends substantially and we cannot assure you either that we will continue to generate
sufficient cash in order to fund distributions at the same rate as our historic rate (or to fund any distribution), or that our board of
trustees will continue to maintain our distributions at historic rates.

Among the factors which could adversely affect our results of operations and decrease our distributions to shareholders are
reduced Hotel revenue; increases in operating expenses at the Hotels leased to our TRSs; increased debt service requirements,
including those resulting from higher interest rates on variable rate indebtedness; and capital expenditures at our Hotels, including
capital expenditures required by the franchisors of our Hotels. Hotel revenue can decrease for a number of reasons, including
increased competition from new Hotels and decreased demand for Hotel rooms. These factors can reduce both occupancy and room
rates at our Hotels, which would directly affect us negatively by (a) reducing the Hotel revenue that we recognize with respect to
Hotels leased to our TRSs and (b) correspondingly reducing the profits (or increasing the loss) of Hotels leased to our TRSs. Many of
our expenses cannot be reduced in tandem with revenue declines, (or we may choose not to reduce them for competitive reasons), and
certain expenses may increased while our revenue declines. See “— Conflicts of interest and related party transactions — The TH
Lessee and the TH Manager” above.

All dividends on our class C cumulative preferred shares must be paid or provided for on a current basis or we would not be able
to pay dividends on common shares.

The increasing use of Internet travel intermediaries by consumers may adversely affect our profitability.

Some of our Hotel rooms will be booked through Internet travel intermediaries such as Travelocity.com, Expedia.com and
Priceline.com. As these Internet bookings increase, these intermediaries may be able to obtain higher commissions, reduced room
rates or other significant concessions from us. Moreover, some Internet travel intermediaries offer Hotel rooms as a commodity, by
increasing the importance of price and general indicators of quality (such as “three-star downtown Hotel”) at the expense of brand
identification. These intermediaries hope that consumers will eventually develop brand loyalties to their reservation systems rather
than to the lodging brands with which our Hotels are affiliated. Although most of the business for our Hotels is expected to be derived
from traditional channels, if the amount of sales made through Internet intermediaries increases significantly, room revenues may
flatten or decrease and our profitability may be adversely affected.

Qur ability to make distributions to shareholders may be affected by factors bevond our control.

Operating risks. Our Hotels are subject to various operating risks common to the Hotel industry, many of which are beyond our
control, including the following:

*  our Hotels compete with other Hotel properties in their geographic markets and many of our competitors have substantial
marketing and financial resources;

*  over-building in our markets, which adversely affects occupancy and revenues at our Hotels;
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«  dependence on business and commercial travelers and tourism; and

»  adverse effects of general, regional and local economic conditions and increases in energy costs, labor costs or other
expenses affecting travel, which may affect travel patterns and reduce the number of business and commercial travelers and
tourists.

These factors could adversely affect our Hotel revenues and expenses, which in turn would adversely affect our ability to make
distributions to our shareholders.

Concentration of investment in California, New Jersey, the Pacific Northwest, Florida, Illinois, Texas and Michigan. A
significant number of our Hotels are located in California, most of which are in the greater San Francisco/ Silicon Valley areca. We
also have a significant concentration of Hotels located in New Jersey, the Pacific Northwest and Michigan, as well as in the Chicago,
Illinois and Dallas, Texas arcas. Adverse events, such as economic recessions or natural disasters, including earthquakes, hurricanes or
high-wind, could cause a loss of revenues from these Hotels, which may be significant as a result of our concentration of assets in
these areas. We may not carry insurance coverage for these losses, or the insurance may be insufficient to replace our investment or
otherwise restore our economic position with respect to a Hotel.

Since 2001, the technology-related business sector has suffered a substantial downturn, including many bankruptcies and
layoffs, which dramatically reduced business travel. The Silicon Valley area, where most of our California Hotels are located, is
heavily dependent on the technology sector. Our concentration in California made the negative effects of the economic recession on
our business more pronounced as compared to some Hotel companies with less concentration in California. We cannot predict
whether, when or to what extent our Hotels in the Silicon Valley area will succeed in replacing the business lost from the technology
sector {(and related businesses).

Capital expenditures. Our Hotels have an ongoing need for renovations and other capital improvements, including replacements
from time to time, of furniture, fixtures and equipment. The franchisors of our Hotels may also require periodic capital improvements
as a condition of keeping the franchise licenses. Generally, we are responsible for the costs of these capital improvements, which give
rise to the following risks:

ks

»  cost overruns and delays;

»  renovations disrupt operations and displace revenue at the Hotels, including revenue lost while rooms under renovation are
out of service;

»  the cost of funding renovations and the possibility that financing for these renovations may not be available on attractive
terms; and

» the risk that the return on our investment in these capital improvements will not be what we expect.

We have in the past funded capital expenditures from cash flow from operations and, to a relatively small degree, by borrowing.
There can be no assurance that we will not need to borrow to fund future capital improvements.

Competition for guests. The upscale extended-stay and mid-price segments of the Hotel business are highly competitive. Our
Hotels compete on the basis of location, room rates and quality, service levels, reputation, and reservation systems, among many other
factors. There are many competitors in our market segments, and many of them have substantially greater marketing and financial
resources than our operators or us. New Hotels are always being constructed, and these additions to supply create new competitors, in
some cases without corresponding increases in demand for Hotel rooms. The result in some cases may be lower revenue, which would
result in lower cash available for distribution to shareholders.

Competition for acquisitions,; sales. We compete for Hotel acquisitions with entities that have investment objectives similar to
our objectives and have substantially greater financial resources or lower investment return requirements than we have. These entities
generally may be able to accept higher levels of debt, or otherwise may tolerate more risk than we think is prudent for us. They may
also have better relations with franchisors, sellers or lenders. This competition could limit the number of suitable investment
opportunities offered to us. It may also increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell to us, making it more difficult
for us to acquire new properties on attractive terms.




We may decide to sell Hotels, for a variety of reasons. We cannot assure you that we will be able to sell any Hotels on
favorable terms, or that Hotels will not be sold for a loss. In 2004, we sold two Hotels for substantial losses, and in February 2005 we
sold two Hotels for substantial losses. We are also under contract to sell a Hotel, which is expected to close in early March 2005, at a
price representing a substantial loss.

Seasonality of Hotel business. The Hotel industry is seasonal in nature. Generally, occupancy rates and Hotel revenues are
greater in the second and third quarters than in the first and fourth quarters. This seasonality can cause quarterly fluctuations in our
revenues.

Investment concentration in particular segments of single industry. Our entire business is Hotel-related. Our current investment
strategy is to own primarily upscale extended stay Hotels, with a specific focus on Residence Inn by Marriott Hotels, and limited
service Hotels, primarily Hampton Inn Hotels. We have historically focused on Hotels that appeal primarily to business travelers. We
have not historically emphasized Hotels that appeal to families or leisure travelers. Adverse conditions in the Hotel or travel industry,
in our segments of the industry or in the Residence Inn by Marriott or Hampton Inn brands, will have a material adverse effect on our
lease revenues and cash available for distribution to our shareholders.

Expansion of investment focus. While we have historically focused our investments in extended-stay and limited service Hotels,
we are not restricted from investing in other Hotel-types or other geographic areas, including internationally. In 2004, the Company
acquired the Sheraton Four Points Hotel in Ft. Walton Beach, FL, which is a full service, beach front Hotel in a resort area. We may
continue to expand our investment horizon. There are risks to such activity, including that we have less experience acquiring,
developing and owning, and the IH Manager has less experience operating, these kinds of Hotels as compared to extended-stay or
limited service Hotels in the US. Investing outside of the US carries certain additional risk, such as, legal, political, and currency risk,
which we have no experience with. These risks could negatively affect our cash flow available for distribution and result in the loss of
some or all of our investment.

Our development activities may be more costly than we have anticipated.

As part of our growth strategy, we may develop additional Hotels, which may include the re-development of existing buildings
for Hotel use or the substantial renovation and upgrading of an existing Hotel that is then re-flagged to a different Hotel brand.
Development involves many substantial risks, which include the following:

»  actual development costs may exceed our budgeted or contracted amounts;

«  construction delays may prevent us from opening Hotels on schedule;

»  we may not be able to obtain all necessary zoning, land use, building, occupancy and construction permits;

»  our developed properties may not achieve our desired revenue or profit goals;

»  we face intense competition for suitable development sites from competitors with greater financial resources than ours; and
+  we may incur substantial development costs and then have to abandon a development project before completion.

Investment risks in the real estate industry generally may result in capital losses and may adversely affect our ability to make
distributions to our shareholders.

General risks of investing in real estate. Our investments in Hotels are subject to varying degrees of risk that generally arise
from the ownership of real property. The underlying value of our real estate investments and our income and ability to make
distributions to our shareholders depend upon the ability of the operators of our Hotels to maintain or increase room revenues. Both
income from our Hotels and our ability to make distributions may be adversely affected by changes beyond our control, including the
following:

+  adverse changes in national and local economic and market conditions;
+  changes in interest rates and in the availability, cost and terms of mortgage financing;

+  changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related costs of compliance
with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;

»  the ongoing need for capital improvements, particularly in older structures;

+  changes in real property tax rates or assessments and other operating expenses;
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+  civil unrest, acts of God, including earthquakes, floods and other natural disasters (which may result in uninsured losses)
and acts of war and terrorism;

» the relative illiquidity of real estate investments (see “—Conflicts of interest and related party transactions — Jeffrey H.
Fisher,” “—Jack P. DeBoer” and “—Rolf E. Ruhfus” above); and

»  other circumstances beyond our control.

Uninsured and underinsured losses. We, the IH Manager and the manager of our Sheraton Four Points Hotel in Ft. Walton
Beach, FL have obtained property, casualty and other insurance with loss limits and coverage deemed reasonable by management (and
with the intent to satisfy the requirements of lenders and franchisors). In doing so, we have made decisions with respect to deductibles,
policy limits and terms based on management’s experience, our risk profile and loss history, the nature of our Hotels and businesses,
our and our operators’ loss prevention efforts and the cost of insurance. These judgments may prove to leave us with inadequate
insurance coverage for any particular ]oss.

All of our Hotels in California (and certain of our other Hotels, such as our Hotels in the Pacific Northwest) are located in areas
that are subject to earthquake activity. These Hotels are located in areas of high seismic risk and some were constructed under pre-
1985 building codes. No assurance can be given that an earthquake would not render significant damage to the Hotels that have been
constructed in compliance with more recent building codes, or are in areas of lower seismic risk. Additionally, areas in Florida where
several of our Hotels are located may experience hurricane or high-wind activity. Our Sheraton Four Points Hotel in Ft. Walton Beach
FL, for instance, sustained substantial damage (though no structural damage) during Hurricane Jeanne in September 2004. We have
earthquake insurance on our Hotels in California and wind insurance on certain of our Hotels located in Florida. However, recovery
under these policies is subject to substantial deductibles, and there is no assurance that this insurance will fully fund the re-building or
restoration of a Hotel impacted by an earthquake, hurricane or high wind. We have no coverage from damage from earthquakes,
floods or high wind caused by a terrorist attack.

Our insurance policies include certain coverage for property losses caused by certain terrorist acts. The Terrorism Risk
Insurance Act of 2002 (“Insurance Act”), which became effective in November 2002, requires property and casualty insurers to offer
terrorism insurance, for which they can charge additional premiums, and provides federal funds to help insurers pay claims from
terrorist attacks. We have accepted such coverage under our primary property insurance policies. Based on information provided by
our insurance agent, we understand that coverage offered pursuant to the Insurance Act applies, generally, to acts of terrorism on U.S.
soil by foreign agents resulting in a total of more than $5 million of property and casualty insurance losses. Therefore, our
understanding of the coverage offered pursuant to the Insurance Act is that they exclude losses from terrorist acts on U.S. soi} by
foreign agents that result in a total of less than $5 million of losses. Also, our understanding is that all terrorist coverage, whether
included in the primary insurance policies or in the coverage offered under the Insurance Act, exclude coverage for losses from,
among other things, acts of terrorism by U.S. based groups or individuals, nuclear devices and acts of war. The Insurance Act expires
in December 2005 and there is no assurance that it will be renewed or that insurance against terrorist attacks will be available or
affordable after 2005.

Various types of catastrophic losses may not be insurable (such as those resulting from war or a nuclear incident) or may not be
economically insurable. In the event of a substantial loss, our insurance coverage may not cover the full current market value or
replacement cost of our lost investment. For instance, we do not carry insurance to protect specifically against damage caused by mold
or environmental contamination. Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations and other factors
might cause insurance proceeds to be insufficient to fully replace or renovate a Hotel after it has been damaged or destroyed.

Accordingly, there can be no assurance (1) that the insurance coverage that we and/or our lessees and operators have obtained
will fully protect us (or our lessees or operators) against insurable losses (i.e., losses may exceed coverage limits); (2) that we (or our
lessees or operators) will not incur large deductibles that will adversely effect our earnings; (3) that we (or our lessees or operators)
will not incur losses from risks that are not insurable or that are not economically insurable; or (4) that our current insurance coverage
will continue to be available at reasonable rates. As a result, one or more large uninsured or underinsured losses could have a material
adverse affect on us (or our lessees or operators).

Our lenders require us to maintain certain insurance coverage. We believe that we have complied with the insurance
maintenance requirements under the governing loan documents. However, a lender may disagree, in which case the lender could
obtain additional coverage and seek payment from us, or declare us in default under the loan documents. In the former case, we could
spend more for insurance than we otherwise deem reasonable or necessary, or, in the latter case, we could be subjected to a
foreclosure on Hotels collateralizing one or more loans. In addition, a material casuaity to one or more Hotels collateralizing loans
may result in (a) the insurance company applying to the outstanding loan balance insurance proceeds that otherwise would be
available to repair the damage caused by the casualty, which would require us to fund the repairs through other sources, or (b) the
lender foreclosing on the Hotels if there is a material loss that is not insured.
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Joint ventures and co-investments may limit our ability to manage or sell Hotels, which may adversely affect our result of
operations.

We may joint venture or co-invest with other parties on Hotel acquisitions or developments. There are inherent risks in such
arrangements, including but not limited to having to share control and seek our partners’ approval, disputes over control, strategy, or
the timing or amount of maintenance or capital expenditures, conflicts regarding whether, when or at what price to sell the asset and
becoming subject to negative publicity, financial loss or legal liabilities due to the actions of our partners.

Failure to comply with governmental regulations could affect our operating results.

Environmental matters. Under various federal, state and local laws and regulations, an owner or operator of real estate may be
liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances on such property. The law often imposes
liability whether or not the owner knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of hazardous substances. Furthermore, a person that
arranges for the disposal or transports for disposal or treatment a hazardous substance at a property owned by another may be liable
for the costs of removal or remediation of hazardous substances released into the environment at that property. The costs of
remediation or removal of such substances may be very substantial, and the presence of such substances, or the failure to promptly
remediate such substances, may adversely affect the owner’s ability to sell real estate or to borrow using such real estate as collateral.
We may be potentially liable for the costs discussed above, and these costs could be material and could affect the funds available for
distribution to our shareholders.

Furthermore, various court decisions have established that third parties may recover damages for injury caused by release of
hazardous substances and for property contamination. For instance, a person exposed to asbestos while working at or staying in a
Hotel may seek to recover damages if he or she suffers injury from the asbestos. Lastly, some of these environmental issues restrict the
use of a property or place conditions on various activities. One example is laws that require a business using chemicals to manage
them carefully and to notify local officials if regulated spills occurs.

We generally obtain Phase I environmental site assessments (“ESAs”) on our Hotels at the time of acquisition. The ESAs are
intended to identify potential environmental contamination. The ESAs include a historical review of the Hotel, a review of certain
public records, a preliminary investigation of the site and surrounding properties, screening for the presence of hazardous substances
and underground storage tanks, and the preparation and issuance of a written report. The ESAs that we have obtained did not include
invasive procedures, such as soil sampling or ground water analysis.

It is possible that these ESAs do not reveal all environmental liabilities or that there are material environmental liabilities or
compliance concerns that we are not aware of. Moreover, in certain cases the ESAs revealed environmental conditions that required
some remediation or with respect to which we implemented procedures to specifically manage an identified issue, as in the case of
small areas of non-friable asbestos commonly found in certain older building materials. The maintenance and removal of asbestos is
highly regulated, and requires specific plans to manage asbestos in place and to remove it using certified contractors using specialized
equipments if it is, or there is a risk that it will become, disturbed during construction work or otherwise. We cannot assure you that (i)
future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose material environmental liability, or (ii) the current environmental condition of a
Hotel will not be affected by the condition of properties in the vicinity of the Hotel (such as the presence of leaking underground
storage tanks) or by third parties unrelated to us.

There is an increasing focus on the potential for litigation over claims that mold (or other airborne contaminants) has damaged
buildings and had adverse health effects. We have, infrequently, discovered relatively small amounts of mold-related damage in a
limited number of our Hotels, which we believe are generally caused by one or more water intrusions (e.g., a roof leak, plugged air
conditioner condensation lines, etc.). Mold (and certain other airborne contaminants) occurs naturally and is present in some quantity
in virtually every structure, so we cannot assure you that it is not present, or will not in the future be present, in our Hotels, and it is
possible that plaintiffs could successfully establish that mold (or another airborne contaminant) causes or exacerbates certain adverse
health conditions. If any such potential plaintiffs (who could include Hotel guests and employees) are successful, and mold (or another
airborne contaminant) does occur in our Hotels, we could incur liability, and such liability could be substantial. We generally have no
insurance coverage for the cost of repairing or replacing elements of a building or its contents that are affected by mold (or other
environmental conditions), or for defending or disposing of such suits.

Americans with Disabilities Act. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or the “ADA,” all public accommodations
must meet various federal requirements for access and use by disabled persons. Many states also have similar requirements.
Compliance with the ADA’s requirements could require removal of access barriers, and our failure to comply could result in the U.S.
or a state’s government imposing fines or in private litigants winning damages against us. As substantial renovations are planned to all
or any substantial part of a Hotel, and in connection with the construction of any new Hotel or addition to an existing Hotel, our policy
is to consult a local architect to insure compliance with all applicable codes and ADA. While we take these and other steps to confirm
that we comply substantially with the ADA, and several of our Hotels were constructed recently and incorporated ADA compliance
into the original design, there is no assurance that we will not be required to make unplanned, substantial modifications to our Hotel to
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comply with the ADA. If we are required to make substantial modifications to our Hotels, whether to comply with the ADA or other
changes in governmental rules and regulations, our ability to make distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.

Fluctuations in property taxes and insurance costs can adversely affect our distributions to our shareholders.

Each of our Hotels is subject to real and personal property taxes. These taxes on our Hotel properties may increase or decrease
as tax rates change and as the properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. If property taxes increase, our ability to make
distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.

We carry insurance on all of our Hotels and our business. The costs of property and casualty insurance carried by us and/or the
[H Lessee rose substantially in the insurance renewal cycles after September 11, 2001. These increases were due primarily to the
disruption in the insurance and stock markets caused by the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, to significant payouts that our
insurers have made or may have to make in the future on certain covered claims by or against us, and to the location (i.e., California)
and physical characteristics (i.e., non-sprinklered) of a number of our Hotels. While insurance pricing has moderated recently, these
factors, as well as any future covered losses or other casualties, may result in (a) future insurance cost increases, (b) our inability to
obtain (or economically obtain) important insurance coverage and/or (c) an increased risk of exposure to casualties if our insurance
deductibles are substantially increased or the limits of our insurance coverage are substantially reduced. While in absolute dollars
property tax is a much larger expense than insurance for us, our ability to make distributions could be adversely affected if insurance
costs increase. Please see “—Investment risks in the real estate industry generally may adversely affect our ability to make
distributions to our shareholders — Uninsured and Underinsured losses” above.

Franchise requirements could adversely affect distributions to our shareholders.

Our Hotel operators must comply with operating standards and terms and conditions imposed by the franchisors of the Hotel brands
under which our Hotels operate. A franchisor may impose upgraded or new brand standards, such as enhancing the complimentary
breakfast offered by a Hotel or increasing the value of guest awards under its ‘frequent guest” program, which can add substantial
expense for the Hotel. The franchisors periodically inspect our Hotels to confirm adherence to the franchisors’ operating standards.
The failure of a Hotel to maintain standards could result in the loss or cancellation of a franchise license. We rely on our operators to
conform to operational standards. The franchisors may also require us to make certain capital improvements to maintain the Hotel in
accordance with system standards, the cost of which can be substantial. In addition, when the term of a franchise expires, the
franchisor has no obligation to issue a new franchise. The loss of a franchise could have a material adverse effect on the operations or
the underlying value of the affected Hotel because of the loss of associated name recognition, marketing support and centralized
reservation systems provided by the franchisor. The loss of a franchise could also have a material adverse effect on cash available for
distribution to shareholders.

The ability of our board of trustees to change our major policies at any time may not be in your interest.

Our board of trustees determines many of our major corporate policies, including our acquisitions, dispositions, growth,
operations and distribution policies. The board of trustees may amend or revise these and other policies at any time without the vote or
consent of our shareholders.

Provisions of our Declaration of Trust and Maryland law may limit the ability of a third party to acquire control of us.

Ownership limitation. Our Declaration of Trust provides that no person may directly or indirectly own more than 9.8% of our
common shares and preferred shares. This may prevent an acquisition of control of us by a third party without our board of trustees’
approval, even if shareholders believe the change of control is in their best interest. See “Our share ownership limitation may prevent
certain transfers of our common shares” below.

Staggered board of trustees. Under our Declaration of Trust, our board of trustees has three classes of trustees. Trustees for each
class are elected for staggered three-year terms and until their successors are elected and qualify. The staggered terms of our trustees
may restrict the ability to effect a change of control of us, even if shareholders believe a change of control is in their best interest. The
staggered terms for our trustees may also discourage offers or other bids being made for our shares at a premium over the market
price.

Authority to issue preferred shares. Our Declaration of Trust authorizes the board of trustees to issue up to 20,000,000 preferred
shares, and to establish the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or
distributions, qualifications, or terms or conditions of redemption of any preferred shares issued. The issuance of preferred shares may
discourage takeover offers for, or changes in control of our company, even if shareholders believe that such events may be in their best

interest.

Maryland anti-takeover statutes. We are subject to various provisions of Maryland law placing restrictions and requiring
compliance with various procedures designed to protect the shareholders of Maryland REITs against unfair or coercive mergers and
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acquisitions. These restrictions and procedural requirements may discourage takeover offers for, or changes in control of our
company, even if shareholders believe that such events may be in their interest.

Business Combinations. Under Maryland law applicable to Maryland REITs, certain “business combinations” (including
certain mergers, consolidations, share exchanges and asset transfers and certain issuances and reclassifications of equity securities)
with an “Interested Shareholder” are prohibited for five years after the person becomes an Interested Shareholder. An “Interested
Shareholder” is any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our shares or our affiliate who, at any time
within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of our
outstanding voting shares, unless the board approved in advance the transaction by which he otherwise would have become an
Interested Shareholder. Afier the five-year prohibition, any such business combination must be recommended by the board and
approved by at least (a) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by shareholders and (b) two-thirds of votes entitled to be cast by
shareholders other than shares held by the Interested Shareholder, unless, among other conditions, shareholders receive a minimum
price for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the Interested Shareholder for
its shares. These provisions do not apply to business combinations that are approved by the board prior to the time that the person
becomes an Interested Shareholder. This law applies to us.

Control Share Acquisitions. Maryland law as applicable to Maryland REITs provides that “control shares” acquired in a
“control share acquisition” have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast
on the matter, excluding shares of beneficial interest owned by the acquirer or by officers or by trustees who are employees of the
trust. “Control shares” are voting shares which, if aggregated with all shares previously acquired by the acquirer, would entitle the
acquirer to exercise voting power in electing trustees within one of the following ranges of voting power: (i) one-tenth or more but less
than one-third, (ii) one-third or more but less than a majority, or (iii) a majority or more of all voting power. The control share
acquisition statute does not apply (a) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the trust is a party to the
transaction or (b) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the declaration of trust or bylaws of the trust. Qur Bylaws contain a
provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions by any person of our shares.

Qur failure to qualify as a REIT under the federal tax laws will result in substantial tax liability, which would reduce the
amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

The federal income tax laws governing REITs are complex. The REIT qualification requirements are complex. We have not
obtained a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service that we qualify as a REIT. We cannot assure you that we will qualify as a REIT.

Failure to make distributions could subject us to tax. In order to qualify as a REIT, each year we must distribute to our
shareholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income. To the extent that we satisfy this distribution minimum, but distribute less than
100% of our taxable income, we will be subject to federal income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be
subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our shareholders year is less than the minimum
amount specified under federal tax laws. Our only source of funds to make these distributions comes from our TRSs, which in turn
receives revenues from Hotel operations. Accordingly, we may be required to borrow money or sell assets to make distributions
sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the distribution requirement and to avoid tax in a given year.

Failure to qualify as a REIT would subject us to federal income tax. 1f we fail to remain qualified as a REIT in any taxable
year we will be subject to federal income This would substantially reduce our income and cash available to pay distributions. The
resulting tax liability might cause us to borrow fiunds, sell some of our investments, or take other steps that could negatively affect our
operating results in order to pay any such tax. Moreover, subject to certain exceptions, we generally would be disqualified from re-
electing treatment as a REIT until the fifth calendar year after the year in which we failed to qualify as a REIT.

Failure to qualify as a REIT may cause us to reduce or eliminate shareholder distributions, and we may face increased
difficulty in raising capital or obtaining financing. 1f we fail to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT, we may have to reduce or
eliminate any distributions to our shareholders in order to satisfy our income tax liabilities. Any distributions that we do make to our
shareholders would be treated as taxable dividends to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits. This would
negatively affect the market price of our common shares. In addition, we may face increased difficulty in raising capital or obtaining
financing if we fail to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT because of the resulting tax liability.

The formation of our TRS Lessee increases our overall tax liability. Our TRSs are subject to federal and state income tax.
Accordingly, although our ownership of our TRSs will allow us to receive the after-tax operating income from our Hotels in addition
to receiving rent, that operating income will be fully subject to income tax.
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We will incur a 100% excise tax on transactions with our TRS Lessee that are not conducted on an arm's-length basis. For
example, to the extent that the rent paid by our TRS Lessee to us exceeds an arm's-length rental amount, such amount potentially will
be subject to this excise tax. We intend that all transactions between us and our TRS Lessee will be conducted on an arm's-length basis
and, therefore, that the rent paid by our TRS Lessee to us will not be subject to this excise tax.

We are subject to other tax liabilities.

Even as a REIT, we may be subject to certain federal, state and local taxes on our income and assets, such as tax on
undistributed REIT taxable income and alternative minimum tax. If we sell a property in a "prohibited transaction,” our gain from the
sale would be subject to a 100% penalty tax. A prohibited transaction would be a sale of property, other than foreclosure property,
held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. Our TRSs are fully taxable corporations and are required to pay
federal and state taxes on their income.

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to sell otherwise attractive investments.

To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy certain requirements with respect to the character of our assets. If we fail to comply
with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct such failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar
quarter (by, possibly, selling assets note withstanding their prospects as an investment) to avoid losing our REIT status. Afier January
1, 2005, if we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, and the failure exceeds a minimum threshold,
we may be able to preserve our REIT status if (a) the failure was due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect, (b) we dispose of
the assets causing the failure within six months after the last day of the quarter in which the failure occurred, and (c) we pay an
additional tax of the greater of $50,000 or the product of the highest applicable tax rate multiplied by the net income generated on
those assets. As a result, we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

QOur share ownership limitation may prevent certain transfers of our common shares.

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, not more than 50% in value of our outstanding shares of beneficial interest may
be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include certain entities). Our Declaration of
Trust prohibits direct or indirect ownership (taking into account applicable ownership provisions of the Code) of more than 9.8% of
the outstanding common shares or any other class or series of outstanding shares of beneficial interest by any shareholder or group
(the “Ownership Limitation™). Generally, the shares of beneficial interest owned by related or affiliated owners will be aggregated for
purposes of the Ownership Limitation. Any transfer of shares of beneficial interest that would prevent us from continuing to qualify as
a REIT under the Code will be void ab initio, the intended transferee of such shares will be deemed never to have had an interest in
such shares, and such shares will be designated “shares-in-trust.” Further, we will be deemed to have been offered shares-in-trust for
purchase at the lesser of the market price (as defined in the Declaration of Trust) on the date we accept the offer and the price per
share in the transaction that created such shares-in-trust (or, in the case of a gift, devise or non-transfer event (as defined in the
Declaration of Trust), the market price on the date of such gift, devise or non-transfer event). Therefore, the record holder of shares of
beneficial interest in excess of the Ownership Limitation will experience a financial loss when such shares are purchased by us, if the
market price falls between the date of purchase and the date of redemption.

We have, in limited instances from time to time, permitted certain owners to own shares in excess of the Ownership Limitation.
The board of trustees has waived the Ownership Limitation for such owners after following procedures set out in our Declaration of
Trust, under which the owners requesting the waivers provided certain information and our counsel provided certain legal opinions.
These waivers established levels of permissible share ownership for the owners requesting the waivers that are higher than the
Ownership Limitation — if the owners acquire shares in excess of the higher limits, those shares are subject to the risks described
above in the absence of further waivers. The board of trustees is not obligated to grant such waivers and has no current intention to do
so with respect to any owners who (individually or aggregated as the Declaration of Trust requires) do not currently own shares in
excess of the Ownership Limitation.
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